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The Hoax of the Century: 
Faking the Zapruder Film 

Time has been deleted from the film. With time removed, the film is useless as a 
dark for the assassination. 

—Newcomb and Adams 

IN NlY i_ks-r TWO BOOKS I questioned the validity of the films in the 
case. As time goes by it is becoming increasingly clear that much 
of the publicly known evidence in the case, both privately held and 
that in the National Archives, consists of stage props. My questions 
concerning the films have stimulated much discussion and dissent. 
Many who suspected—or believed—the films were altered or fake 
got in touch with me and shared their research, ideas, and informa-
tion. The lid came off one more can of worms! I found a very large 
number of people who had suspected—or believed—for a long time 
that the famous films of the murder might he altered or fake. Each 
person who approached often had a piece of the puzzle different 
from the next. A picture began to emerge. This was the first na-
tional notice that the Zapruder film is a massive hoax and is an 
animation.* 

The real film of the assassination was taken by someone else, and 
is quite different. It was taken right alongside the car and showed 
all that is not in the Zapruder film, which was taken from much 
farther away. The first film was used by the FBI to reconstruct the.i t,,t 
crime, and it's still secret. 

The Zapruder film is for public consumption. 
In 1967, Professor Josiah Thompson, whom I respect, was a paid 

consultant on the assassination and its visual evidence for Life maga- 

* See also my chapters on the film in both High Treason 2, pp. 357-373, 
and Killing the Truth, pp. 319-336. 
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zine not long after the assassination. He had early access to the Film 

and described his viewing of it there, writing that "if [the Zapruder 

film) is studied with the utmost care and under optimum condi-

, tions, it can yield answers to enormous questions. Where did the 

-11,61-b; shots come from, and when were they fired? Limited in scope 

though it is, the Zapruder film is capable of answering these ques-

tions .. Quite obviously, the Zapruder footage contained the near-

est thing to 'absolute truth' about the sequence of events in 

Dealey Plaza."2  

That is what they want Prof. Thompson and us to think. 

The one thing that has become deadly certain is that far too 

much of the assassination evidence that critics and the public had 

relied upon for many years was phony. 

There is no question not only that oil man H. L. Hunt had 

bought and paid for the local Dallas offices of the FBI, the Secret 

Service, and the CIA but that J. Edgar Hoover himself was "owned" 

by and conspired with his friends, the Dallas oilmen. Hunt em-

ployed former FBI men as well, so he was informed of all that 

happened there. 17tAy 	Iva" 

A fast shell game went on at the Jamieson Lab' in Dallas where 

rZapruder had taken the film to be developed. From there it may 

have found its way to the National Photographic Interpretation Gen-

*. ter (NPIC) film lab in Washington.' Erwin Schwartz, Zapruder's 

partner, said that the film did not reach Jamieson until after 6 P.m? 

Zapruder was asked by Wesley Liebeler of the Warren Commis-

sion, "... after you had the film developed, I understand Mr. Sor-

rels from the Secret Service came over and helped you get the films 

developed and you gave two copies of your films to Mr. Sorrels, is 
t   

that correct?" It was at this point that Forest Sorrels, now deceased, 

fLf?'" of the Dallas Secret Service office, had to have gotten control of 

ti)  the film, and the film-lab game began. 

'5( s 	"Yes. One we have sent to Washington the same night and one 

went over for the viewers of the FBI on Ervay Street.... The Secret 

Service—I brought one roll there and they told me to dispatch it 

by Army plane or I don't know what they had done with it but it 

was supposed to have gone to Washington, and one of them, I 

,; 

; j-,11 	
believe, remained here with Mr. Sorrels. He came to my office quite 

a few times to show them to different people."6  Zapruder can't get 

his lines straight, and this shows evidence of coaching. Officially, there 

,AA 	was only the original and three copies of the film, two of which 

went to the Secret Service, and one copy and the original were sold 

to Life, but no sale had occurred on the day of the assassination. 

The official story is that the Secret Service gave one copy to the FBI. 
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* 	* 	* 
ZAPKUDER Taus us that a copy of the film was flown to Washington 

\k ,/5 that day, but it is completely unreasonable that a copy of a film of 

'e 0 
one of the most major crimes of the century would have been sent 

1~~ , for study there, and not the original. The Dallas Secret Service and 
10 ( Ad() the Dallas FBI would have been working closely together and help- 

' 	jing each other. Since Zapruder has said elsewhere that he retained 
, a copy which was shown to the FBI, the Secret Service, and others 

in his offices, as he says above, there is an obvious contradiction in 
how many copies existed. ....taili 	 .1)°' '( 

'1 I1Zapruder's partner, insists that Life never got the film until at least a\ 

	

There are a couple of bombshells in all of this. Erwin Schwartz, 	 V 

vo,\O Tuesday, November 27. Schwartz accompanied Zapruder to the film ' 
labs and stayed with him the whole time the film was being devel-
oped and copied on November 22, and was with him also when I .444,1ri 

	

i 	t.i  
Life's Richard Stolley collected the film at the Adolphus Hotel on v 0 

ti 0111 ) Tuesday, he says. The copy given to Life was to be used to make 
stills.? This would have given the conspirators plenty of time to alter 

,kCu \411(. f \ 	the film before Life got it. However, Life's November 29 edition was 
\ 'ill\PA-. printed on Tuesday, November 26th, which gives damn little time ,0_11 /1 

1 e LAY 
1,' Ov"' lthat day to get plates made for the printing presses from the frames r, JO 

.411 I., in the film. The only answer to this is that Life must have got the J.I'l ' 

	

c-:.'. ,4 • film before Tuesday, clandestinely—perhaps on Saturday, Novem- 	04 
,..-4\ 	ber 23. I believe that additional, officially unaccounted-for copies 'A,  

of the film were distributed as soon as it was developed on the day ivOtrt 4 
J -of the assassination. Initial alterations were simple and easy. 

1-‘ 14't 4 Since Schwartz himself delivered the film to Stolley, he does not ,• ter 
‘i V AI'lt / 	believe Stolley's claim to have been looking at the film before then. 

W "If Zapruder gave Stolley a copy to take with him, Schwartz doesn't 
\ 	'A know anything about it," Richard Bartholomew says. It makes no ..1, a k, 

k'
k ' sense to me that Zapruder would have given Life the original film 
1.11 i` that Saturday without a check, and we have no knowledge of money '''A\ti 

passing until the more formal contract made on Monday, November cli 
L 	 25. At that point, Life would cut a check and send it overnight to 

lik 	Zapruder and collect the film. On the other hand, the film Schwartz 

0 

	

	describes taking to Stolley was for making stills, and so would be a ,,, 'Itl,P I; 

-7 _., ,.k- copy, not the original. Furthermore, Schwartz, whose memory could L jii 	7 
1-1 IT conceivably be dimmed by the intervening thirty-one years, does 

e not think that Stolley even saw it that Saturday morning, and was 

	

.p.% gone from Zapruder's offices by ten or ten-thirty in the morning. 	itotdii .  1 / N 

	

It would seem that Life did not officially have the film until Mon- 1 	Atii 
day, November 25, the date of their contract with Zapruder. That Li tit 
would theoretically give them one day to prepare the photographs. 4.61v Lii 



Pege 11y note 

His gross ignorance about this film in particular and about movie film in 
general is simply astounding, yet he writes all ei this from the depths of that ig-
norance. clot one of those he uses as authorities is any kind of an authority and I've $ 
never heard of any but one of them to p. 126.They are nuts and as nutty as he us in 
general and on this subject.What he quotes them on is what they made up from their own 
ignmelice. At first I fell into his misuses of words from his ignorance and did not stop 
to think that in movie film there is no "negative"; the word he used when he mean the 
original. The only true negatives in all this mishmash are copies of the positive film 
used in printing. All motion-picture and slide films are positives, as all that are 
ahown other than by printing have to be. When copies are mdde commercially they are 
made automatically and that does not compensate for differences in exposure and thus the 
automatic copies, as :" understand it, lose clarity. 

Most of what he says hare is impossible, all made up, lareely by him. 
Like on 123, watching "copy negatives" being made. The copies made in Dallas 

were all positives and all made automatically. 

As he also has not mentioned to the point I've reached he has not mention he 

They are on the 

automatic copies are 

co"e. 
film that shows the sprocket holes by which the Aim is given it. 

A 
original only except for special copying. They are eliminated when 
made, as they are unseen on projection. 
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1,,,dr̀f1/4/VVO 
Since Life was a news magazine and they had a very big story, if 

_ 	they were willing to spend an extra million bucks or so to speed it 

el 	I up, there may have been no problem with the short lead time. 

■,„ „, (,,1,1,1,11,  The deal was for a hundred fifty thousand dollars, to be paid at 

; the rate of twenty-five thousand per year. 

Schwartz confirms that all the employees of Life and anyone else 

who happened to be present were shown the film repeatedly while 

they were there, and he insists that he saw blood and brains come 

out the back of JFK's head, even though we do not see this in the 

film today. Schwartz said that Dallas police with shotguns were at 

Zapruder's office a half an hour after the shooting. 11,., dz  J 

Philip Melanson argues in his Third Decade article, "Hidden Expo- 

roe 	
sure: Cover-Up and Intrigue in the CIA's Secret Possession of the 

so AO 	
Zapruder Film," that the original film 'in fact went to the National 

Photographic Interpretation Center (NPIC) in Washington, and 

1,01 could have been altered there. He tells us that the technology to 

I AAA • 
A C* 	 restze images, create special effects, and remove frames existed in 

1963. The equipment was there to analyze films but not necessarily 

to alter them. 
But Daryll Weatherly and I question whether the forgery would 

have happened there. It seems to me to be irrational for the film 

to have been altered at NPIC, unless we are looking at a blatant 

military.coup. The alternatives are that they analyzed the film there, 

the film was altered somewhere else, and this is a red herring. 

Researcher Paul Hoch discovered the NPIC story, when in 1976 

he was able to obtain a batch of documents through a Freedom of 

Information Act request from the CIA. Item #450 was nine pages 

of documents relating to an analysis of the Zapruder film conducted 

for the Secret Service by the CIA's NPIC. Philip Melanson writes, 

"For the first time, there was evidence that CIA had possessed and 

analyzed the film. Apparently the CIA had gotten the film from the 

Secret Service.... Did NPIC make extra, unaccounted-for copies; 

or did the NPIGproduced copies somehow end up as the Dallas 

copies? Was NPIC producing third-generation prints; or had it 

somehow obtained the original?"' An item in this batch of docu-

ments lists the time it took to process the film. It tells us that two 

hours were required to "Proc. dry," which always refers to devel-

oping original film. "If NPIC had been working with a copy, the 

first step would have been to pint, then process." The item then 

says that it took one hour to do a "Print test." Melanson writes 

that "print test" refers to a short piece of film printed from the 

original and used to check the exposure—to see if the negative is 

too light or too dark—before printing copies from the original. 
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"Thus there is strong indication that NPIC had the original."' The 
print they made may have been from one of the three negatives 
Schwartz mentions. If NPIC had a print, it made a negative from 
that, then did the print test from it, which may be more likely, 
according to assassination film researcher Martin Shackelford. At 
the very least, the film was analyzed at NPIC for the number, timing, 
and sequence of the shots, but it could have been altered there 
as well.f 

Melanson suggests that Zapruder may have made a bargain with 
the Secret Service on the day of the assassination. "Whether some-
one in authority asked or toid Zapruder, indications are that he did 
indeed relinquish it ... If Zapruder did manage to strike a bargain 
with the Secret Service, the terms may well have been that the 
Service took the original for a brief time (perhaps only eighteen 
hours) but promised to keep the loan secret so as not to jeopardize 
Zapruder's chances for a deal. If potential buyers knew that the 
original had, been out of Zapruder's hands, they might have per-
ceived it as secondhand merchandise; if they knew the government 
was printing extra copies, the exclusivity of the purchase rights 
might be in doubt. Exclusivity was very important to the deal, and 
Zapruder knew it. Life's  Richard B. Stolley recalled that through all 
the chaos, Zapruder kept his 'business sense. 

>CO if  

Api t  

1.7. 1"`..

v.  

(1,^ 

,.1 .4' 
N\IIAAr  

141 
"And why would the Secret Service be satisfied with a copy which - 

less clear than the original?" Melanson writes. "Sirceitssenis 
\`‘. Nyitv4  et-tain that NPIC conducted itsartaly5is_oruke_ r_light of the assassi- 
7\1) 	, nation, this greatly increases the likelihood that NPIC had the origi- 

, 	. 

.1),&111thal.'"I But Melanson and Paul Hoch have not proved that the film . ,-1 
was there on November 22, 1963.:A4 l; 	MAI kill 	; 1 Mil • ike 

Stolley also said that "if the federal government had not been in 
such disarray at that moment [immediately after the assassination] 
somebody with authority and a sense of history would probably have 
asked Zapruder for the original film and he probably would have 
relinquished it."" 

In a letter to me, John R. Woods II, the author of an important 
work on the visual evidence in the case, asks, "Did NPIC create 
different versions of the film in order to create several different 
versions in which the government could decide which film would 
fit the scenario?" 

We always have to be watchful for false trails and red herrings in 
the evidence. To my way of thinking, it is just as likely that the film 
might have been first roughly altered and a new "original" struck 

t See also High Treason 2 by the author, pp 369-371. 
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off that day in Dallas. Over the next days and weeks the copies were 

made picked up andestroyed, with altered copies substituted in 

their place. a 	i ,)by .,444A- 

i ti 	I had high-level information in Dallas that the original Zapruder 

-.,0 	
tc_ film (from Zapruder's camera) was first obtained by H. L Hunt 

before Life bought what they thought was the original. The FBI, the 

cret Service, and the military allowed Hunt to either control the 
t k i vv„, 	evidence or be used as the front for control of it by those using 

I, '116.1- „AI, him. The indication is that Hunt's people obtained it and passed 

V' it' it on to the FBI who sent it to headquarters in Washington shortly 

VI k- ,,,,,,.4 after it was developed. 
N-11 -0(11.1 	In view of the close relationship between the FBI's J. Edgar Hoo- 

f'  ‘ 	/ ver and Cartha DeLoach and Life wherein the FBI would and did 
a thtl.)) 

V 	plant completely false stories on that magazine, j-  we might suppose 

that if the FBI had the film, and if the case was being faked, then 

they may have fed frames from the film to Life as needed to fulfill 

41. the emerging official story. T. ;1.41,-4 alb, ,4444.t 144 t'iti4iae 

And for this we have a witness. Erwin Schwartz, Zapruder's gart-

er, is related by marriage to Richard Bartholomew, a researcher. 

wartz told Bartholomew that after the film was developed, 

wartz took either the original or a copy of the film to Hensley 

field Naval Air Station the night of November 22, and it was flown 

to Washington about nine or 9:30 P.M. Actually, the time may have 

I)L' - 	been a little later, as Schwartz has the work being finished at Kodak 

P 	
at this time—or the developing was done a bit earlier. This would 

have allowed for alteration in Washington at NPIC or somewhere 

.N1/401 else. 
.;+' 

	

	Schwartz told Richard Bartholomew what happened earlier that 

day just after the assassination. He ran over to the Dal-Tex Building 

where the offices of their company, Jennifer Juniors, were located—

they had the entire fourth and fifth floors. Two policemen were 

standing in the elevator vestibule with shotguns when Schwartz got 

back to the office at about 2:00 P.M. As Lieutenant Day was removing 

the rifle from the TSBD, Schwartz walked past them going to his 

office, saw Zapruder, and asked him why the police were there. "I 

don't know. I told them to go get somebody in authority. I'm not 

giving that film to them," Zapruder replied.' Then Forrest Sorrels, 

head of the Dallas Secret Service, arrived with a reporter (Harry 

McCormack) from the Dallas Morning News. Zapruder told them 

what he had seen. Sorrels said he would like a copy of the film, 

tf Detailed in Anthony Summer's Official and Confidential: The Secret Life of 

j Edgar Hoover, (New York: Putnam, 1993), pp. 208-213. 
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and the reporter said that they could develop it at Channel 8, a 
local TV station. 

Zapruder, Schwartz, McCormack, Sorrels, and the cops went to a 40  police car, and with the siren going, drove to the TV station, where 
j they were sent on to Kodak. There they watched the film developed 

f\e.'"\ through a glass partition. The film was developed about 2:45 P.M. 
One of the cops then called Sorrels, who had to leave because of 
the capture of Oswald, and told him "you can see everything." rt-A' Bartholomew says that they had told Sorrels they would go and , • 1 

	

	get a copy made for him. To do that, Jamieson made them a nega- 
dye which they had to take back to Kodak for developing. The first 
time any money was mentioned was when they got out of the car 
at Jamieson, "A guy came out of the shadows and said, 'I'd like to 
offer you two hundred dollars. I'm with the Dallas Morning News— 
for every still we use off of your film,' "'' 

'vvt, 5441/1" )14"4/61 According to Schwartz, they watched the copy negatives being 
made at Jamieson and only three were made. "The original was 
still intact. It had never been split. It was still on 16 mm film." 
They returned to Kodak where the positives were made from the 
three copies. About twenty or thirty people saw the film projected 
there several times. The two partners ate food from machines while 
the developing was going on. The work was finished close to 9:00 
or 9:30 P.M. Sorrels then called them and asked them to come to 
the jail to deliver a copy of the film to him. Later, Sorrels asked 
them to take the film to the Secret Service office. Sorrels had not 
seen the film; it was to be flown to Washington that Friday night 
from Hensley field. 

That night Schwartz was offered $10,000 just to introduce report-
ers from the Saturday Evening Post to Zapruder. By early the follow-
ing morning there were many media people at their offices, and 
offers for the film were already at $100,000. Zapruder introduced 
Richard Smiley of Life and said he was going to sell it to the maga-
ine. Anageement..was_drawn_ up_and_signed_Stolley then left. 

"The agreement was that Schwartz would bring the film up to him 
the first part of the following week. He did not leave with the film 
in hand."'s The film continued to he shown to employees in Za-
pruder and Schwartz's offices off and on through that Saturday. 

; 	h,. 	! -cal" 	gic  ,114'., 
THERE IS AN UNCONFIRMED s-roav that a report of the Los Alamos 
Scientific Laboratory found that the Kodak symbols were missing 
from the original film. We do not know if the Review Board has 
released this HSCA report. If true, that would mean that what Life 



14,49 	k4c, 'IL‘t- Li 141 94 tiCirvidt111/ 
122 	 KIIIING KENNEDY 

or Henry and Abraham Zapruder thought was the original film, 

isn't. 
On December 4, J. Edgar Hoover informed Lee Rankin of the 

Warren Commission that he was told beforehand that the FBI had 

"a copy" of the film. "The film being referred to was taken by 

Abraham Zapruder, who, after making a copy available to the FBI, 

sold the film to Life magazine.... The Central Intelligence Agency 

has inquired if the film copy in possession of this Bureau can be 

loaned to that Agency solely for training purposes." This is, of 

course, one copy too many. Richard Stolley of Life wrote his boss, 

C. D. Jackson, on November 25 in his contract with Zapruder, that 

three copies were made, one copy going to Life with the original, 

and two copies going to the Secret Service—one of these sent to 

Washington. The Secret Service gave a copy to the FBI, but the 

evidence that I've gathered shows that more copies were made, and 

the film began to proliferate right from the start. There is better 

evidence for FBI possession of the original in a memo from Cartha 

DeLoach at the FBI to M. Mohr16  quoted later in this chapter. 

The story is that the Dallas Secret Service was the source of the 

r copy that went to Hoover and the FBI. Certainly the film or films 

Zapruder and Schwartz took to Hensley Field went to both NPIC 

and the FBI in Washington. The second Secret Service copy was 

probably sent along to the Washington Secret Service office, though 

S 	we would hope in a separate plane. None of this explains how a 

0
4, copy, which he showed to many people over the next weeks, re-

mained in Zapruder's hands. 
The official story from Stolley is that he got the original film and 

copy on Saturday, the day after the assassination. For this and the 

0. rest of the known history, see this endnote." The Chicago Life office 

had it on Saturday. C. D. Jackson saw the copy of it in New York 

on Sunday and decided to buy it. He had to see it on Sunday, 

therefore. We might theorize that the Life sale was being set up 

without Zapruder knowing that they might already have the film. A 

copy might have been made that Zapruder did not know about 

and sent to Life, while quick alterations had already been made in 

Washington or Dallas. 
Schwartz is solid that the film did not go to Life until Tuesday, 

which gave them almost no time to use the film for their November 

"Y'\ 	 29 issue. Zapruder was not present when Erwin Schwartz gave the 

04A 	film to Stolley. It is possible that there was a preliminary contract 

made on Saturair,—November 23, and either with or without cash, 

the deal was struck and Zapruder let Life have the film then, firming 

1%1 1 ' it up with tl Monday, November 25, contract. It just seems peculiar 

al  a I 

A 

0.1'1  
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to me that he would have given them the film without both the 
cash and a written agreement. 	fx.\,/ /01,,,y4W,,,  

Schwartz also said that Jamieson male three negatives and no 
positives, so they had to return to Kodak to have copies made. He 
was with Zapruder throughout the processing and said that the film 
was shown to everyone present several times, and that half the 
screen was blank, as it was still in 16 mm. 	 /at \  /141-/f.t.r 

Zapruder was directed to Dealey Plaza to make his film. He 
claimed that he did not want to do it or plan to do it, but that his 
wife and his secretary, Lillian Rogers, talked him into it. It sounds 

like he was used, like so many others. Schwartz said that Zapruder 
idn't care that Kennedy was coming, though another story claims 

that he intended to film JFK, but it looked like it might rain, so he 
left the camera at home. 

It is relevant to look at the connections of Erwin Schwartz and 
Abraham Zapruder, whose son worked for the Department of Jus-
tice. If we are to talk about alteration of this film, then the back-
ground of its owner is pertinent. 

Zapruder's partner, Schwartz, was tight with the Campisi brothers' 
(owners of the Egyptian Lounge). These were the two Mafia dons 
who were the hands in Dallas of Carlos Marcello of New Orleans. 
Schwartz was also tight with Jack Ruby. They gambled together and 
went to the same clubs to gamble as did H. L. Hunt. Ruby and 
Schwartz had the same rabbi. Schwartz had a good knowledge of 
Ruby's activities and history without having read any books on the 
JFK case. And Erwin Schwartz hung out at the Carousel Club, Ruby's 
joint. It would seem probable, therefore, that Zapruder knew Ruby. 
A massive amount of investigation and research over the years has 
proven Ruby's connections and involvement with the mob. 

A source states that "meeting Erwin's friends would make you 
feel like the casting director of Goodfellas." Schwartz loved to play 
golf at La Costa, a major mob hangout on the West Coast in the 
past. The lawyers for both Zapruder and Schwartz were Sam Pass-
man and Shannon Jones. Passman also represented the Campisis, 
and Jones represented the CIA and did quite a bit of work for them 
in Texas. 

THE CONTRADICTORY AND CONFUSING CHAIN of possession for the Za-
pruder film woad seem to identify it with the other bogus stage 
props in the National Archives. 

The evidence is fast developing that all this material is fake—
faked by the conspirators who planned the murder of John Ken- 
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nedy. None of it was ad hoc, after the fact, because somebody was 

trying to prevent a war, but was faked in concordance with the plot 

to overthrow Kennedy and all he stood for.§ 

ALTERATIONS OF THE ZAPRUDER FILM 

In my last two books, High Treason 2 and Killing the Truth, I main-

tained that the large blob showing on President Kennedy's face just 

after the fatal head shot is an impossibility, since moments later he 

was seen at Parkland Hospital and there was no damage whatsoever 

to his face. Some have offered various explanations for what we see 

in the film. Some people believe that the "blob" is simply the inside 

of a large flap of skin that has fallen down which reflects the sun. 

The problem with this is that no one at Parkland saw such a flap. 

It would have fallen down in the emergency room and been no-

ticed. Dr. David Mantik became convinced during a visit with us to 

the National Archives to view the slides of the film on June 23, 

1994, that the "blob" is an unnatural add-on to the film and not a 

flap of scalp hanging down over the face. It cannot come from the 

laceration reported by some witnesses at the autopsy because the 

President's hair leading down to his right forehead is clearly visible 

above the "blob" and undamaged, until the frames appear at about 

335 when there is no evidence at all of a head above the blob. 

The film is simply altered to show an apparent shot from behind. 

They want us to think the damage is to the frontal part of his head, 

backed up by fake X-rays. The blob obliterates a shot from in front. 

470 htat wit4f Sri Cip her 

I ALSO WROTE THAT IN SOME OF THE FRAMES following the fatal head 

shot, the figures of Jacqueline and John Kennedy appeared to be 

painted in, and in some frames appear to be cutouts. In several 

MC 1.1 b  

it oar 

Vf 

§ Frame-by-frame study of the Zapruder film for those with access to a CD-

ROM computer system may best be accomplished by use of Medio Multime-

dia's "JFK Assassination: A Visual Investigation," available for $39.95 by call-

ing 1-800-237-6623. The disk contains four films of the assassination, including 

the Zapruder, Nix, Hughes, and Muchmore films, and an overview film with 

other footage included. Each Zapruder frame is numbered and can he studied 

frame by frame and in slow motion. Unfortunately, the poor resolution of 

CD-ROM obscures or eliminates details that are of great importance, and 

other means of study must he employed from slides or the actual film copies. 

The CD-ROM is also available from the Last Hurrah Bookshop (see 

Bibliography). 



note on page 125 

Hs says of what the film shows, and he has, unoriginally, argustiall along that 

the back of the head was blown up,"The hole itse4 is blackened across the back of the 

head." There is no hole on or across the back of 
1444' 

 the head that 's virible in the clearest 

of conies, the slides made for the uommiseion from e ori 	first the background on 

him and on this. 

"ftor he completPqf his promotional tours for his High Trash 2 he phoned me. lie 
/4) 

told me ho was making a documentary with someone in New York and was going to4'o to the 

Archives to study the film. fte had not done that by the time he completed two books! 

He wanted to know what to look for. I told him he would not want to know that but he 

insisted. So I told him the story of how Shaneyfelt saw to it that the 6ommission did 

not publish the last nige frames it was te publish, as "L  brought to light in WhitewashII. 

As my exposure of the damage to the originai caused LIFE to react, that caused the Archives 
to react. I was invited in to see those nine frames. It was explained that they were not 
published only by accident. These were the original slides made by LIFE, not later-

generation copies now ned at the Archives. What I saw, beginning with frame 335, the 
one he quotes Shackelford as seeilon what is not there to be seen, is that the several 

frames after it show neither any hole nor any blood. Which is the fact. Shaneyfelt 

made black and white prints through frame 334 whe he waS to have done that thriugh 343. 
What he eliminated in this is the turning of the President toward Jackie as he falls °vier 

on her. For two frames the back of his hezd, the shirt collar and the jacket are quite 

clear. Not even a hair seems to be out of place. _1 think this was about 336-7. I have 
small prints of those frames. 

1107 di
ll  So he went to the Archives about three weeks later and phone to tell me he was 

glal I had told him because he wanted to know the truth and he saw it. But he also knows 

and believes that he never makes any mistake so naturally he did not see what he saw flid 
Said he saw and that is the beginning of his claim that I am some kind of agent and was 

through H.L.Hunt part of the conspiracy to kill, If he admitted the truth to himelf he 
would be admitting to himself that all he has said and done is wrong and that he cannot 
do. Thus all who do not agree with him are his enemies, out to destroy him and his truth. 

The original is clear and takes simply enormous enlargement. When I saw those 

unpublished frames they were projected onto a screen about five feet wide. 	gets me 

to the impossibility of the toying with the film and having that invisible. 

The original film is only a tiny bit# more than a quarter of an inch in width. 
If it is enlarged on pc jection to uhere each frame is an inch wide, the araps magtified 

not four time but, if the film were for the sake of argument, also an inch high the area 
would be sixteen times larger, not four. and that begins with a quarter of an inch. When 

this is carried forward to five feet the area magnffied is quite spectacularly large. I 
and did see individual hairs and no hole, no blood, on the head of the clothing. 



note on 125-2 

As I also explained to him all alteratitns had to be on the original otherise 

they could not be identical on the copies made from the original. this is villa'. led him to 

his present concoction, th.t the original was altered. 

As I also told hi1 when the original is so tiny any alteration could not 

avpid being; very obvious on projection or on any kind of enlargement. If thefe could 

be sch mirco-faking. It is that small an original and I saw it five feet wide, as 

he could have or did. When the tiniest scratch on the tiny original is ill enlarged as 
11043f mudh as on projection to about five fe,:t it would be, what is invisihle on the 

orig inal would be quite large and obvious can such projection. 

one of this in included in what to this point fiv..e rea and I am confident 
he will make no mention of it. 't ends his work and what he thinks is his reputation. 
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frames, the entire front half of the head is missing, leaving only a 
stub from the back of the neck and back of the head. Before this 
happens, but after the fatal head shot, it seemed clear that in some 
frames the back of the head is not just in shadow, but signs of the 
gaping open wound described by all witnesses in the back of the 
head have been painted out with black paint. Unknown to me, Fred 
Newcomb and Perry Adams had written extensively on the Zapruder 
film many years before my observations of the painted faces, and 
had said this: "Although splicing marks were undetectable about 
frame 313, it is likely that frames were removed and the remaining 
retouched. The a"pjpearance of 313 is vital to the health of the sce-
nario.... To camouflage evidence of a shot from the front, the 
actual exit wound at the side of the head was covered with 
opaque.' A few frames in one of the sets of slides at the National 
Archives, such as 316 and 317, appear to show the margins of the 
hole. The hole itself is blackened across the back of the head. In 
the Life original slides at the Archives, that area is what might be 
called "reference black." It is so dark and unnatural-looking so that 
it is not shadow. "Above it, the hair sticks out toward the back—as 
we see from the side in frame 335. This appears in all sets of Za-
pruder frames, but the features are clearer in the Archives set," 
Martin Shackelford told me. k.d.) 	Ivy\ 144 	ti.1 	nvtrAlittliq 4.41 

As for painted faces and figures in the fatal car (none f this is tivit-luttj 
actually painted on the film itself), many have noted the apparent write,.. 
art effects after the fatal head shot, but not many have had the 
courage to talk about it in public. I found that lots of people from , 4/1(VINI 

1.v' 

the Los Angeles area assumed or knew that the film was fake. They 
called it a product of "special effects." In other words, for more  
than thirty years people have been suspicious or disbelieving of this 	/i/1,/i 
film, but almost no ne dared say a word. 1,1 	 itiltk. 4 k4L'k 4 /1/W'k

ri
E 	144-4444_ l 14,14N /4 tuAq-. 0 	l4 imt 

4,1 /It 1), aetk, 	Fild,4116 kof 

4tA,""k-, To-rc/ERSIONS OF THE ZAPRUDER FILM °' -44  Coditk 

04,0tr, 	Al( o! 	 fiat? ictaio 

,Apcoid L2t. 	 -tbe Pa* 

There are several main sources of the film. Two versions are proba- ke2r-J1441-  -Ili]  
bly the primary public source. The most widely known and publi- 1,.." -  II [ 
cized is the Life magazine version, which officially was bought from 
Abraham Zapruder the day after the assassination. When this film flu  t 
"leaked" out on television to the public, it was sold back to Za- /1, /kVA 

y 
pruder for one dollar, and the Zapruder family has collected money C _t`t. 10 

11,6  for its use ever since, though charging researchers only a nominal 7 
fee. ife also made s ides of the fram s from the film and donated "ii'n 	di 

( - [A( 2)".3 . 

ail) 
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;1126 /L1441 	clI  „...'61-4(' .4  %id" 	mi /1 1  'A vtiti 	it'v 
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1,uvi  stiv., ' cl_ „C E4 	- ! G /1/4/tarkt  • c-4e (4.41) it tthAatia‘ 
ivii,3 • thrn to the National Archives. These slides have uncommonly well- 

44 	
preserved color values and clarity. One can view a carousel of the 

AO 
slides at the Archives in College Park, Maryland, in a good viewer 

sitting at a table about a foot or two away from the screen. The 

evilvt1D . Stemmons Freeway sign, for instance, is very steady and well defined 

4114,44° around its edges. The grass in the background after the car emerges 

a 444'19.! 	from behind the sign is very green, and the outdoors is filled with 

4,6,  oil sunlight glinting off the chrome and glass of the fatal car, the whole 

ii‘ 	ih% 	scene brightly illuminated. 
Na tte_ Doug  Mizzer says the cleaned-up version was made for public 

04  et#Di consumption. He put it this way: "This is how good it can look. It's 

A,41, 4,41,1441/1 the final version."' And, indeed, it appears to be not quite the same 

LA 	
as the others. Even this has been changed in various versions. 

The Secret Service version was loaned to the House Select Corn-
' 
Lou 	mittee on Assassinations in 1976.20 

There is a version known as the "Kurtis film" which is dark and 

gloomy and the colors nearly gone so that it almost appears to be 

t d1 a black-and-white film. It was first shown on national television on 

the Arts & Entertainment Cable Network by Bill Kurtis in 1992 in 

- a show called Who Killed JFK?: On the Trail of the Conspiracies. The 
ii  

film has a message at the bottom of the TV screen saying  that it was 

NC Ar‘4 4  0,-being  shown "Courtesy: House Assassinations Committee." That it 

-0( is from the HSCA may be in doubt because the program was pro- 

5A_ ducecrin 1992. Where did he get the film? The Bill Kurtis video 
Itp 

,*.version is therefore not the actual film. 

, Av:" 
py 

	

	Films transferred to video for showing  on TV are altered by ma- 

chinery in order to fit the video format of thirty frames per second. 

04% 
10  PM Some frames may be taped twice and others combine fields from 
‘14, 
■ ..preceding  and following  frames. Why is the film so dark, and why 

would he show such a poor copy? 
Unfortunately, this version stops at frame 316. The HSCA had a 

93'y  clear copy of the Secret Service version of the film, and it was shown 

on In Search of Lee Harvey Oswald. PBS broadcast the clear copy of 

3 s 
	the on 'nal film when it _televised the HSCA's hearin 

gesearc 	erOort-eil use the termi-'7Eife'verii-o—n"' or "Secret Service 

tAmk version" to refer to the publicly shown films which are derivatives 

M:: of these, often heavily altered for television, or for screening with 

yv4 \ a projector with a speed different from eighteen frames per second. 

Frames tiIaLareAnissing 	the Life version are in the Secret L  

Service version and "if you're trying  to sync a real-time audio tape 

1 111 to the film, you don't want a film with splices in it,"' Doug Mizzer 

AI 	writes. The Kurtis version and many Life versions are reframed after 

tit 	
'the car passes the lamppost to Zapruder's left. The Kurtis version 
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There is no such things as "the Life version" or "the Secret Service version." 

Those nuts who are so indispeesible in his nuttiness do not have access to the original, 

which is the only thing his Life version c -In refer to and only at the Archivs can they 

have access to th 'Beret Service copy that without any question at all was made the day 

of theassassination at Dallas Eastman Eedak. If differences are Yeally detected they 

have to come fromijecond hand uses of what he refers to-.J .- However, as I Ltought 

to like in Whiteaash, those frames of the ibriginal that were destroyed by Lee in 

Chicago do exist in the copies other than the sprocket hole material that is masked 

out on copying. 



ti)vt'...i16°42 
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has the frames enlarged at the time of the head shot. Though there 
may be nothing sinister in this, Robert Groden did the reframing. 
In the earliest bools copies of the film, as in the October 1964 
Lift copy, JFK is at the bottom of the frame in Z-313. This is how 
the original film looked. When Groden steadied it, he also raised 
the frame, as the bottom is cut off by the projector during projec-
tion, thus producing the black bar effect at the bottom of the frame. 
That is the quickest way to differentiate a copy of the original film 
from a copy of one of Groden's steadied versions. 

Mizzer says, "In different documentaries, the film is enlarged 
differently." 	

1 In addition, there is the Dallas FBI field office Zapruder film now c/v1411'66 

 

located in the National Archives, but little is known about it at this 
writing. One might ask that if the local FBI had to continue to (•1 	AjciX` 
return to see the film in Zapruder's office, then how did they obtain 
this copy? And how, if Zapruder did not retain a copy, as was pub- 
licly claimed after the sale to Life, was the FBI able to see a copy 
in his offices for some time after? And, as explained above, if a ryvvitg- d4ipti 
copy or the original went to FBI headquarters in Washington, what n“ 
happened to that? What happened to H. L. Hunt's copy? Why won't 
the Hunt family discuss this? 

David Lifton, a researcher, has both a 35mm copy, and another gt Jbet 
copy obtained from other early sources. Lifton's film, said to be 1,414041—  
uncommonly clear, is being used for research. His video of the film 1-11  
is the same as the HSCA version that was being sold by the Assassi- 
nation Information Center in Dallas. 

There were bootleg copies that appeared at the time Life provided 
the film to Jim Garrison for his prosecution of Clay Shaw, which 
were copied and given to Mark Lane, and many copies made from 

14444 .4' that and given to researchers. There was a copy provided to Robert L r.- 
Groden sometime after the assassination and shown on a Geraldo 

, Rivera show on March 6 and 27, 1975, for the first public showing. 
Many have felt that these men were used to show the film because 
le—original had been altered and proved the government's case 
more than it disproved it. The government's case is protected by a 
false film that has key events removed. 

John Woods, II, author of an important work on the visual evi-
dence in the case—JFK Assassination Photographs—wrote me that he 
learned that there is a "European" version of the film which has 
no halo around the head at the time of the head shot (Z-313), but 
he was unable to verify this. Many people feel that the "halo" 
around JFK's head for a brief frame was added on to the film. The 
halo appears in the Nix (N-395) film, and the Muchmore film (M- 
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.igv 
467-8). These films would have been altered in register with the 

ti4 A /044 	 4.-- 

114441kjt " 
Zapruder film—no big task.  (...„,k, , 1,1 •44,4' 4 .Ibt _It 17 we 

In 1978, the documentary, In Search of Lee Harvey swald, was 
ILO'" ' made as a syndicated program and sold to individual stations. Later, 

14,1:$0. 4 the Arts & Entertainment network bought the entire package. On 
4 	1 it, Robert Groden showed an unspliced version of the Zapruder 

11- 	
A 

film. Where did he get it? He was a consultant to the HSCA at the 
iiibt time, and they were the only ones in official possession of an un- 

liIt4- 
 .$1 

i.  Ivo.- believes that the CIA, H. L. Hunt, or the military had it. The copy 
,spliced copy outside of the FBI and the Secret Service, unless one 

r` 	Groden showed on TV, otherwise uncut, started at frame 133, omit- 
ting the motorcycles seen in the beginning of the film, and had all 
the frames in it which were missing from the Life version at the 
point of the well-known s  lices where they claimed the " cciden- 
tally" broke the film 	40 Ott",.1140-4 14-010-44  ‘4,- 46- 

Some versions have oddities that may be mistakes made by the 
forgers at the point of those splices: At about frame 208, the Kurtis 
version shows a wall in the background across the street, overhead 
of the Stemmons Freeway sign which in one frame has completely 
different sets of holes in it, separate from each other, doubling the 
number of holes. This is not a double image but is instead a repeti-
tion of two different images out of register with each other. We got 
a good video print of this forger's mistake or stretch-framing arti-
fact. Frame 208 of the Life version is where there is another major 
splice. We also see double images in that frame of Rosemary Willis, 
the motorcycle helmet visible above the limo, the edge of the Stem-
mons sign, the corner of the wall, and other features. 

"The obvious indication is that the background overlays were not 
perfectly lined up when the frame was rephotographed. From this 
frame forward is also where the sign does the most noticeable jump-
ing around. Again, this occurs at the second splice point in the Life 
copy that starts at frame 208."22  The 'lumping Sign" version is the 
Kurtis version of the film, "and the rest of the mistakes," as Doug 
Mizzer wrote in the same letter. 

Mizzer proposes that some of the available versions of the film, 
incorporating stretch framing, composite frames, and other cine-
matic alterations, may in fact derive from early, clumsily forged 
versions that may have been shown to the official bodies while a 
better-looking, permanent version was prepared. Today these low-
quality bootlegs still fool people. One of the early forgeries seems 
to have been shown on Dallas/Fort Worth television in 1991 and is 
now doing double duty as bootleg film. 

The biggest single question we are faced with when talking about 
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alteration of the Zapruder film is: Wouldn't the other films and photographs contradict it? Only three other films were claimed to show the shooting: those of Nix, Muchmore, and Bronson. The Bronson film was taken from one block away on the left side of the car and well behind it, too far, even if the camera was in fact run-ning, to record information of any value about the shooting. As I have written in previous books, Bronson, who was taking snapshots, denies having gotten his movie camera going until Jackie was on the trunk of the car, after the last shot. 

As for Orville Nix, his daughter stated that he didn't get the film back from the FBI in the same condition as the one he gave them." This film was also taken from the left side of the car during the shooting, so that little can be learned about the wounds from it, except that it appears to show a piece of skull fragment flying from Kennedy's head and landing on the trunk. Mrs. Kennedy then crawled out to the trunk to try to retrieve it, but we don't actually see this in the Zapruder film, either. 
The Muchmore film, also taken from the left side of the car, seems to have a painted-in head explosion corresponding to frame 313 of the Zapruder film and looking not even similar to the one we see in the Nix film. It is a different angle and occurs an instant apart." But one sees a grayish white (pink in the original film) matter rather than the bright red we see in the Life version. The point of view is from behind. The Secret Service/HSCA version of the Muchmore film is very poor. Both the Nix and Muchmore films are damaged, as is the Life Zapruder film. One wonders how they could have become so damaged, unless the splices and burns on them cover up mistakes. How could anyone handling them do such damage to this priceless historical and criminal evidence? We see in these visual images as-yet-unidentified people filming the murder, and know nothing of their films. One of them, possibly Bronson, is near Nix. Then there is sixteen-year-old Tina Towner, who operated a movie camera while her father took slides, standing near the corner of Houston and Elm. One would be inclined to believe that there was another film around. 

The final problem to mention here is the tampering with the film by other researchers who chose to change this vast historical treasure still more—in some way other than that of the original forgers. WILe_ther "image steadying," optical enhancement, "roto-scoping," blowups, stretch framing, or other means of alteration, this Nyoulthserm  yet another crime against our history when the ultimate effect is to divorce the viewer and the public from whatever would have been the most real version of the film. 
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ROTOSCOPING AND ENHANCEMENT 

The entire concept of "rotoscoping" and "enhancement" of the 
priceless evidence in this case by researchers should come under 
the greatest scrutiny because some of the best technical people in 
the nation tell me rotoscoping, or rotoing as it is known, refers to 
animation. This may be  a "researcher's" major Freudian slip of the 
tongue, since the technique used to alter the Zapruder film was in 
fact a form of animation. 

"Rotoing is most commonly known from Disney films that com-
bine live action and animation," a reader wrote me from Japan. 
"The live action film is enlarged to animation cell size and a car-
toon drawing is prepared for insertion. This inset is the roto. The 
process can also be reversed to put live action into a cartoon." 

Daryll Weatherly explains rotoscoping: "The rotoscope device 
allows a piece of film to be projected through a camera lens onto 
a flat surface, so that the outlines of inserted art work and/or mattes 
can be drawn. Later, the same camera, in the same position, repho-
tographs the art work. An animation camera is constrained to move 
along a single line, toward or away from the animation table, so 
the insert will appear in its proper place as long as the camera is 
the same vertical distance away for projection and rephotographing. 
The separate parts (unless the scene is all artwork) are then com-
bined using an optical printer."25  

A good description of rotoscoping is in Roy Madsen's book, Ani-
mated Film—Concepts, Methods, Uses.' 

Madsen describes the method: "When the filmmaker plans to 
combine cartoons or titles with live-action footage or to matte out 
images in live-action scenes, he often employs a technique called 
rotoscoping. Using a rotoscope unit, he projects each frame of the 
live-action background scene from the camera onto the animation 
tabletop. He can thus make layouts of drawings which correspond 
precisely to each frame of the live-action footage."27  

Raymond Fielding, in The Technique of Special-Effects Cinematogra-
phy, explains how rotoscoping sometimes is used as an image steady-
ing technique: 

"There may sometimes be unavoidable occasions when valuable 
footage is rendered worthless because of accidental vibration or 
jiggling of the camera.... The technique involved is tedious and 
costly, since it usually requires that each frame be rotoscoped onto 
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an alignment chart where changes in image position which are due 
to jiggling can be plotted from frame to frame. During final optical 
printing of the shot, the process camera's lens is moved from frame 
to frame so as to reregister the image, thus evening out vibration 
in the shot. This operation usually requires that a slightly reduced 
section of the master positive image be enlarged; otherwise, the 
correcting movement of the process camera's lens would cause it 
to photograph areas outside the frame."" 

It may be that those who have misused the technical terms all of 
these years in many national and local public appearances were 
actors saying lines they did not even know the meaning of, and 
they were never exposed publicly. Only a few people familiar with 
filmmaking got their number. 

Chuck Mailer thinks that it is very easy to make a duplicate copy 
of the film that zooms in closer to the image, therefore cropping out the background. He believes this has been done in an effort to 
eliminate important references and visual clues. Although Zapruder 
testified "he got it all," President Kennedy's head between frames 
273-328 is at the very bottom edge of the frame. By this close 
cropping, the foreground references of the two ladies who were 
standing next to the streetlight and the Newman family were just 
barely eliminated from the picture frame." 

"Image steadying" eliminated a certain amount of the data on 
the frame in order to keep it centered. That action may_haye served 
the conspirators well, because those frames where the film jerked—
sometimes during a shot—contained intrinsic information showing 
whether or not it had been altered or moved from some other part 
of the film. 

The "optical enhancements" of the film, or narrowing of the 
field of vision, eliminate a great deal of background information so that one cannot compare parts of the film to see its alteration. The "enhance-
ment" thus is a perfect means for the conspirators to counteract the 
data presented in the published frames by the Warren Commission. 
It plays into their hands if it is not a deliberate intent to cover up. 

THE RED MIST 

There is a widespread belief among many who believe that the film was altered that the red mist we see in frames 313-14, when Presi- 
dent Ken 	truck is . 	 is -nt sainted in. 
I had felt it was an event from around frame 324, when we believe 
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Kennedy is struck in the head from in front, that was combined 

with frame 313 in a composite frame, but numerous others studying 

the film say it is merely retouched. Newcomb and Adams noted this 

a generation ago: "The exploding, bloody halo was manufactured 

on the film in the area around the President's head in frame 313."" 

The halo is only present for one frame in the current film. Shackel-

ford says that two frames in the Muchmore film show the halo, 

though one of them is damaged. 
"The halo, a cartoonlike, red-orange burst that nearly obscures 

the President's head, not only confuses the features of the head 

but also distorts the actual and less dramatic wounding. Further-

more, the burst occurs for one frame only—an eighteenth of a 

second—and does not appear on the very next frame. The film 

should have shown the burst developing and decaying over a se-

quence of rimapseiglithir frames.  For example, a film 

made of the effect of a rock hitting a window would require a 

number of frames to record the moment of impact, the spidering 

and splintering of the glass, then the shattering effect of the rock, 

and the outward showering movement of fragments, and their even-

tual descent to the ground."" Perhaps a more reasonable period 

for decay of the halo burst is five to six frames. Dr. Luis Alvarez, a 

Nobel laureate in physics, filmed exploding skulls, and the effect 

took the equivalent of five to six frames at 18 fps to dissipate the 

bone arid substitute head matter. 
There is a major problem with the sets of slides in the National 

Archives. On separate trips to the Archives, one is liable to see 

different things in the different reference sets. There was a hole 

clearly visible behind Kennedy's ear in one viewing of frames 316 

and 317 at the Archives," for example, and it was not visible the 

next time. Daryll Weatherly prepared the following memo for this 

chapter concerning the problem: 

1 have a very clear recollection that in June 1994, you pointed out 

one of the Zapruder slides in the head-shot sequence which had visible 

brush strokes darkening the back of Kennedy's head. This was dur-

ing viewing of the reference set in the Archives, the one that comes 

in a carousel. As of January 6, 1995. there was no such frame in the 

reference set or in the original set. The back of the head was still 

unnaturally dark in these frames, but there were no brush strokes. 

I have a clear recollection that in June 1994, frame 336 showed 

a bright object coming out of the back of Kennedy's head. Doug 

Mizzer pointed it out to all four of us. 
I don't think it is in the reference set I just saw. I may have 

looked in the wrong place for it, but I think I looked at all the 
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head-shot frames and I'm pretty sure I would have spotted it if it 
was there. 

Both of our Archives notes (from June 1994 visit) say that 'a 
'red shift' occurs in the slides right at 312. My notes say that 313 
has 'red-orange grass.' The reference set of slides that I saw on 
January 6, 1995, become gradually redder, but are not suddenly 
red at 312. At no time are they red-orange like some of the slides 
provided by Zapruder today, ostensibly from the Archives. 

The change from green grass to red more than once in the slides 
in the reference set in carousels at the National Archives and on 
the film slides possessed by Robert Groden indicate this red shift 
related to the slides in the Archives, though it is not present in 
their "reproductive set" or the original slides. All the Groden slides 
are very red, as is the Assassination Information Bureau slide et 
from the 1970s. rkm., at_ 4.1  n4444 Al  1.411 	/40.00,  .4 et laisli( 

There is no sudden shift from green to red in the reference set )1(  
at the Archives. The shift toward red is gradual. At no point does 
the whole picture get as red as those slides that one gets if one 
orders slides from the Archives. This gradual shift to red (brown is 
perhaps a better description) may occur over time as the color 
wears out. The red grass is explained by saying that different film 
stock was used for some of the slides. But why? In other versions 
there is no red shift and the grass remains startlingly green. 

Shackelford says that this may indicate that "the frames in the 
Archives sets appear to have been assembled from copies made with 
two different film stocks, one of which shifted over time." Weatherly 
just thinks that the developing solution wore out and was changed 
before the slides were finished. 

JAMES ALTGENS'S MISTAKE AND WHAT IT MEANS 

Ike Altgens, the Associated Press photographer who took the most 
azotts pictures of the assassination from a position on the left side 

of the car somewhat ahead of it as it approached, wrote Doug Miz-
zer a rather extraordinary letter on November 21, 1994. He outlines 
the kind of mistake that crept into the official record through haste 
and inadvertence, and in the process, gives us new insight that has 
bearing on the subjects in this chapter we wish to illuminate. 

I admire you for trying to put a square peg in a round hole—
a procedure that epitomizes what the Warren investigators faced 
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in reaching a conclusion with their investigation of the JFK. assassi-

nation. Witness testimony, at variance from one another, created 

a major challenge for the members in reaching a unified decision. 

A great deal of reliance was placed on the Zapruder movie, yet 

the experts had difficulty reaching a decision on feet per second 

in order to plot critical timing sequence, a key to the number of 

shots and intervals in between them. There were as many versions 

of what took place, as there were witnesses that presented a very 

confused scenario. 

The feet per second issue refers to the speed the camera was set 

at, an issue that must have been foremost in photographer Altgens's 

ind as he wrote the above—realizing the crucial importance of 

the time it took to fire, reload, and fire the alleged murder weapon. 

144/ If the camera had been running at tv.__,rsn,w.zfoLir frames per second, 

the shooting was too fast for one gun to have done what it was 

.111, supposed to have done. According to an FBI report, the FBI said 

that the camera was running at twenty-four frames per second. Za-

pruder told the FBI that he had the camera fully wound and on 

maximum zoom lens." The camera was taken back from Bell & 

Howell, which had requested it for its archives, and restudied by 

the FBI for the Warren Commission and found to be running at 

18.3 frames per second. Zapruder then testified to the Warren Com-

mission that "they claimed they told me it was about two frames 

fast—itistead of sixteen, it was eighteen frames, and they told me it 

was about two frames fast in the speed and they told me that the 

time between the two rapid shots, as I understand, that was deter-

mined—the length of time it took to the second one and that they 

were very fast and they claim it has proven it could be done by one 

man. You know there was indication there were two?" This discus-

sion with Wesley Liebeler was terminated about one minute later. 

Shortly before, Zapruder fearlessly told them that one of the shoot-

ers was standing behind him." 
Josiah Thompson found that the camera did not have a speed setting 

for twenty-four frames, but only for eighteen frames per second and 

forty-eight frames per second, which is slow motion." This assumes 

A ,ArbT, that Zapruder did not originally have a soundinaviesamera, which 

takes pictures at 24 frames per second. I find it very strange that 

Zapruder, who knew very little about cameras and had not had one 

before, would state, as the FBI implies, that he had the camera set 

for 24 frames when it. was later found that a setting for 24 frames 

1/'"k' ei/ 	
did not exist on his camera. Although the following may not flow 

from this discrepancy, the government's scenario needed to speed 

things up, so they decided that Zapruder was 	n and his 

r4VA 44/044.411-0 . 	k.4 rermti441, 
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camera was running at 18 frames per second, which accelerates the 
limousine by some 30%, since it_raiglit_hayesmml or slowed to 
next to nothing at a key moment in the murder. 

It is also possible that there were simply different versions of the 
camera, but that would have surfaced by now. Question: It seems 
awfully convenient for the government to change Zapruder's testi-
mony. If they know so much, let the government explain where 
Zapruder could have evenzomenth!_ideatAtthe_carra at 
24 frames per second—if it was not written on the camera or in 
his instructions. 

Shackelford suggests an explanation: "The statement that the 
film at 18 fps was 'two frames fast' derives from the fact that movie 
silent speed was originally 16 fps. That's the speed at which 
Chaplin's films, for example, were filmed and projected originally—
one reason they seem to go a bit too fast on a Super 8 silent projec-
tor, which runs at 18 fps, and definitely too fast at sound speed of 
24 fps." 

James Altgens wrote: 

I am guilty of making an error in my deposition because I said 
that I was thirty feet from the President's limo when I made the 
picture showing the President after he received the first shot. I 
had turned my lens to infinity (my 105mm) which would be sixty 
feet. The other two lenses that I had in my pocket (a 50mm, and 
28mm) have infinity at thirty feet. I called Mr. Liebeler's office 
the next day to correct that part of my deposition, but he had 
already departed for Washington. While Trask indicates in his 
report that I made an error, and the distance was sixty feet as 
opposed to thirty feet, he indicated this was his assumption, but 	 4 
I had already informed him that the distance should have been 
sixty, not thirty, as stated in my testimony. 

As for my position of being alongside the limo at the time the 
fatal shot was fired, I believe we are dealing in inches. Realizing 
that the limo was constantly moving, with airborne fragments corn- 	 „ 
ing my way, I still maintain that those fragments landed at my feet. 

-And, the reflex of JFK's head—back then forward—as claimed in 
the Zapruder film, I did not see the backward movement. When 
first told about it, I figured that it was an optical illusion; yet, in 
talking with some wild-game hunters, they have convinced me 
that upon first impact, the body moves opposite of the impact, 
then moves in the direction of the bullet. At the time JFK got 
the fatal blow to the back of his head, I was officially fifteen feet 
from the car—the scale on my camera showed that footage—a 
distance for which I had already prefocused." 



136 	 KILLING KENNEDY 

DOUG MIZZER 

"The frustrating part is that most of my previous work is meaning-
less now, because I've been analyzing what amounts to a cartoon."' 

Extensive study by Doug Mizzer, a researcher in Baltimore, of the 
various films in the case indicate that there was a second shot to 
the head at frame 324 of the Zapruder film, a half second after the 
first head shot from behind. The conspirators evidently did not 
detect evidence in the materials that might contradict their official 
story, or care about possible mistakes in their hasty and sometimes 
sloppy forgeries, since they controlled the main levers of power in 
the nation as a result of their coup. 

Mizzer has shown us clear indication in the film that there was a 
shot at that frame from in front, and in the next frame, 325, appar-
ent head matter falls to the trunk of the car just behind the seat 
where Jackie is sitting. The film appears to show considerably more 
damage to the head after frame 324 than after frame 313, when 
the first shot hits. Not exactly simultaneous, but close to it. 

Interestingly, he spotted the head matter on the trunk of the car 
in the basic Life magazine copy of the Zapruder film that has been 
out there for nearly twenty years. No one ever noticed it before. 
These frames, so far, have not been shown in the popularized Bill 
Kurds (Arts & Entertainment cable TV) version of the film, which 
ends a few frames after the first head shot, at frame 316. 

Mizzer writes: "The shot originates from in front of the limousine 
and is the shot responsible for producing the hole in the rear of 
JFK's head." Martin Shackelford and I saw this in the National 
Archives version, putting the lie to the autopsy photographs. One 
good photograph from those frames will expose the forgery of the 
official back-of-the-head autopsy photographs, which show intact 
scalp in the back. 

Frame 326 shows a large blob of head matter on the trunk in 
the same position, and the material seen in the preceding frame 
has moved toward the rear. Frame 327 shows the blob and other 
head material moving farther toward the rear, and still farther in 
the following frame, 328. 

Mizzer has correlated what he sees happening in frame 324 with 
the Nix film, which shows substantial new damage to the head about 
that time, following the first head shot, as seen by the camera on 
the opposite side (the left side) of the street. 

"The impact of the second shot comes approximately a half sec- 
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and after the impact of the first shot. This means that they were 
almost simultaneous and is consistent with most of the earwitness 
testimony, especially that of the Secret Service agents riding directly 
behind JFK's limo. The majority of the agents testified that the last 
two shots were back to back or on top of one another." 

Mizzer points out that "the first shot at frame 313 causes a shower 
of blood and brain effusion to be propelled forward from the right 
side of JFK's head toward Governor Connally. The physical evidence 
is that motorcycle officer Bobbie Hargis, who is riding behind and 
to the left of the limo, is struck with blood and brain effusion with 
such force that he thinks he was hit by the bullet." Billy Harper, a 
student, found a piece of skull bone on the grass to the left and 
behind where the car was during the head shot, and Mrs. Kennedy 
crawls out on the trunk to retrieve a piece of skull or brain. "The 
problem is," Mizzer writes, "the head shot at Z 313 could not have 
caused all of these conflicting actions!" He believes that a whitish-pink 
area seen in precisely the same spot described as missing both at 
the autopsy and in Dallas can be seen on the frames surrounding 
367 of the film, and that the hole is clearly there. Unfortunately, 
it's not as clear as we would hope. 

Mizzer's examination of the trunk area concludes that it is clean 
of any blood and brain effusion from Z 313 to Z 324. "In frame 
324, Mrs. Kennedy has her right hand on the top left side of JFK's 
head. It is barely noticeable in the Z frame, but is easily confirmed 
by examining the same frame from the Nix film. In frame 325, her 
hand has started to rapidly move upward and back. In the following 
several frames her hand continues its backward movement until it 
is well behind JFK's head. This rapid hand movement is an involun-
tary reaction to the impact of the second head shot. The impact of 
the shot throws her hand up in the air and propels it backward." 
And then we see brain effusion on the trunk. The first piece falls 
off the trunk, and the second "is the piece Mrs. Kennedy crawls 
out on the trunk to retrieve." 

"After the rapid backward movement of Jackie's hand, she re-
gains control and places her right hand on the lower right rear of 
her husband's head. This is just below where the hole in the head 
should be. Her hand is in this position for several frames and blood 
and brain effusion can be seen on top of her white glove. This 
effusion is also on JFK's right shoulder, next to Jackie's hand, and 
in the following frames can be seen on his right arm. The place-
ment of her hand on the back of JFK's head is also consistent 
with her Warren Commission testimony that she tried to hold his 
hair on." 
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Mizzer feels that none of the brain effusion is visible prior to 
frame 324 and "therefore could not have been caused by the head 
shot at 313. C1444.41.44.104 7, 1. 

"JFK's movements after frame g24 are also indicative of being 
struck by a second shot. In the frames following 324, his back moves 
away from the back of the seat and he starts falling toward Jackie. 
His body goes limp and as soon as Jackie takes her hand away from 
the back of his head, he falls over onto her lap, as she crawls onto 
the trunk.... After 324, he goes limp, which would be consistent 
with the second shot removing the right rear of his brain." 

Mizzer captions this as follows: "Notice the plotted point at Z 
324, you'll see that it has veered of to the right of the line drawn 
through the rest of the frames. To me, this is an indication that 
something out of the ordinary has just happened. The movement 
that takes place from 323 forward to 329 is actually more rapid than 
the backward movement that starts after 313. From 313 to 321 when 
the President's shoulders strike the seat, his head has moved a dis-
tance of eight and a half inches in eight frames. From 323 to 329, 
the sideways head movement travels a distance of eight inches in 
only six frames." 

MIZZER POINTS OUT THAT THERE APPEARS to be a major discrepancy 
between the Zapruder and Nix films with regard to Clint Hill's 
actions. Hill testified that he grabbed Mrs. Kennedy and "put her 
back in the back seat ..."" This is what our study group saw in 
the Nix film, which was taken from the opposite side of the street 
from the Zapruder film. Nix was across Elm and more to the rear 
of the car than Zapruder. Hill is between Nix's camera and Jackie. 
He gets both feet on the step on the back of the limousine and 
moves forward so that he puts one hand on each of Mrs. Kennedy's 
shoulders. At one point he appears actually to be hugging her head 
and shoulders as he pushes her back into the seat. What I and a 
number of my colleagues see is not foreshortening from that angle 
that might make Hill and Jackie appear closer together than they 
are. 

But the Zapruder film, taken from nearly a side angle, shows that 
Hill didn't reach her until she was back in the seat.  I think this is 
good evidence of alteration because in the other film, Hill clearly 
does put his arms around Jackie's shoulders, just as he testified. 

In the Zapruder film, he barely touches Mrs. Kennedy, with his 
right hand on hers, if at all. She backs up into the seat without his 
help. At this point a sprig from a bush obscures bits of the picture, 
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312—First shot impacts the rear of the head at the bottom of the hairline. (Entrance 
wound reported by autopsy doctors) 

313—Second shot impacts above and to the right of the ear. Bullet does not exit, but 
is probably responsible for opening flap behind ear. 

324—Third shot impacts behind right ear and blows out the lower rear of the head. 

Notice that the point plotted at 324 does not follow the curve. 
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and our attention has been directed away from the actions of Hill 
and Jacqueline by entrepreneurs (or propagandists) of the film to 
what was claimed to be a gunman in the bush. 

wj4 	
Is it possible that Zapruder was a plant? I think the masterminds 

,,„..4.6/141/41 hat planned this wanted to document the assassination on film so 
tot„1.,_ f_bei ey could alter it, if need be, to support their story. It just seems 

too convenient, otherwise. If they could control the autopsy photos 
and X-rays, getting someone to film the assassination would be a 
piece of cake." 

Some researchers are puzzled by the fact that when the limo 
passes behind the lamppost, first the governor and then the Presi-

W.101.44! dent can be seen  through  the lamppost. (This is in the Kurtis A&E 
film.) "The reason we have that strange phenomenon," Weatherly 
says of seeing through the lamppost, "is that the film was stretch-
framed by taking parts of one frame and combining it with parts 
of another to make a slow-motion film. We don't see this in the 
slides in the Archives because this is a technique for creating slow-
motion film." 

Put it this way. If you take a film that runs at 18 fps and transfer 
it to, say, film that runs at 24 fps, you have to show more frames 
per second. Six new frames per second have to be made or created. 
This is done either by repeating a frame once, or creating a new 
picture from parts of two frames. The extra frames are usually com-
posites Of several frames, which helps "fool" the eye into seeing 
continuous motion when the film is run. 

In the frames 313-316 in the Kurtis version, there is an additional 
frame in between each frame. Again, this is stretch framing. If we 
try to study this film on our television set by stopping action and 
moving the film forward one frame at a time, just about every other 
frame will have been invented in order to make the original film 
slow enough to be compatible with the 30 fps format of television. 

0 fd Is 	r would have  ssessi on of primary 
e\vidence in the crime (or any crime they investigate), and in this 
case, e original 	They had possession of the film as indicated 
in an in 	memo dated November 23, 1963. The memo 4424 	\ aid that Gordon Shanklin, the agent in charge of the Dallas field 
ffice, "stated he did not believe that the film would be of any 
videntiary value; however, he first had to take a look at the film 

to determine this factor." Cartha DeLoach said in the same memo 
that "this matter would have to be treated strictly as evidence and 
later on a determination would be made as to whether the film 
would be given back to Zapruder or not."42 
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SOME OF US, like Mizzer, want to know "why the film has to be fine-
tuned in the first place?" and "why does the limousine jump 
around so much from frame to frame in the so-called original? Why 
are the frames themselves so uneven in continuity? Why did the 
forgers make the splice for the missing frames so noticeable? Why 
did they enhance the head explosion at 313? Why, because it makes 
it that much harder to prove another splice was done or that an-
other head shot took place. Unless you find another obvious splice 
point or head explosion, nobody's going to believe you! We all 
know that there wasn't any massive damage to the right forehead, 
but sure enough when the Zapruder film became public, it shows 
exactly what Zapnider stated on Dallas TV. The fix is in from the 
beginning!";' Shackelford thinks that the film jumps around due 
to film movement within the camera's transport mechanism, not 
unusual in 8mm cameras. The effect is increased by holding the 
camera in one's hands, rather than mounting it on a tripod. 

Mizzer discovered that in one version of the Nix film there is a 
large piece of blood-tinged skull or brain leaving the rear of the 
President's head. "In another color enlargement of this same frame 
from the A&E documentary, The Men Who Killed Kennedy, this piece 
of skull is not presentl"44  It would appear that the A&E copy of the 
film was altered. "In Z frame 326," Mizzer wrote me, "and the 
identical frame from the Nix film, this large piece of brain and 
skull can now clearly be seen on the trunk of the limousine behind 
Jackie. The large piece only stays on the trunk for one frame in 
each film, but take note that it's the same frame in each film. Also 
remember that the motorcycle officer is struck by this debris and 
that AP photographer Ike Altgens commented that debris fell at his 
feet."45  This means that there was a shot from in front, and it hit 
Kennedy quite a bit farther down the street. 

Orville Nix's original film disappeared in 1978 after it was re-
turned to UPI by the HSCA. Excellent copies of it were shown ever 
since Wolper's 1964 Four Days in November, the 1973 Executive Action, 
and the 1978 Anthony Summers documentary. 

OTHER INDICATIONS OF ALTERATION 

There are repeated examples of good testimony describing things 
which are not now seen in the Zapruder film, giving further indica-
tion that the film has been substantially changed as time passed. 
For instance, Roy Kellerman described to the Warren Commission 
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seeing Kennedy reach back with his left hand behind him for a 
point on the back of his right shoulder, where we are told he re-
ceived a bullet.' 

The first time Dan Rather saw the Zapruder film, he said that 
the head "went forward with considerable violence" when he was 
shot." Later on he saw the film again and corrected himself, saying 
that he made an honest mistake and that the film barely showed 
Kennedy moving forward: "At the risk of sounding too defensive, I 
challenge anyone to watch for the first time a twenty-two-second 
film of devastating impact, run several blocks, then describe what 
they had seen in its entirety, without notes. Perhaps someone can 
do it better than I did that day. I only know that I did it as well 
and as honestly as 1 could under the conditions.... Regrettably, it 
was not without error, in terms of what was unsaid about the move-
ment of the President's head.... It is gruesome even now, and 
always will be, to talk about this scene, but the single most dramatic 
piece of the film is the part where the President's head lurches 
slightly forward, then explodes backward. I described the forward 
motion of his head. I failed to mention the violent, backward reac-
tion. This was, as some assassination buffs now argue, a major omis-
sion. But certainly not deliberate.' 

I no longer think Rather made a mistake when he reported what 
he first observed. There was a violent movement of the head for-
ward, lasting for a number of frames. We now see the forward move-
ment only for the space of one frame in an eighteenth of a second, 
and the movement has been measured to be only two and a half 
inches. Nevertheless, it is worth noting the opinion of James W. 
Altgens: "According to KDWF-TV News director Eddie Barker (a 
CBS affiliate), he says that Rather (then a correspondent for CBS), 
gave out false information to the network about the assassination 
because in his haste to get reports from the station, he gave incor-
rect information to CBS. After being questioned by Walter Cronkite, 
he returned to the station for more correct news reports, then 
called in a correction to his earlier report, It seems Rather did not 
see the entire Zapruder film because he was anxious to make a 
report to the network. Barker was not pleased at all with the way 
Rather used and scavenged their KDFW-TV news office. Evidently, 
that episode did not deter him from becoming the CBS news 
anchor." 

Perhaps Rather simply made a mistake, as he said, but I'm not 
sure. 

Why would the forgers remove the violent forward head move-
ment? Because they had a film showing two major and separate 

If 
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shots to the head almost a second apart from different directions, 
and had to eliminate one of them. Later on, it was said that the 
action of a shot from the rear would create a "jet effect," the 
dynamics of which would draw the head back toward the shot. It 
would also be claimed that the acceleration of the car drew the 
head back, knowing that the driver would step on it. The fact is 
that a shot came from behind and drove the head violently forward, 
and either before or afterward another shot came from the left 
front and drove it violently backward. The forgers compressed the 
two shots into one. 

The backward head motion is not as powerful a piece of evidence 
as many say for a shot from in front. David Mantik suggests the 
following: Suppose that the film showed much more powerful evi-
dence of a head shot from in front, such as blood, bone, and brain 
matter flying out of the back of the head and that the head goes 
backward in the direction of this effusion. If the forgers removed 
the worst frames from that sequence, then the backward motion 
would be much faster. They could not remove the whole thing, so 
they just took out the worst, and left us with a fast backward motion. 

The forgers eliminated most of the evidence of the first head 
shot except for the two-and-one-half-inch forward movement which 
they evidently did not notice in their haste, and compressed the 
action, aligning the bottom half of each frame with new and 
stretched frames showing the car moving along the street and grass 
and people going by in the background. 

Dan Rather said a lot more. The issue that is avoided in his 
"mistaken interpretation" of the film above is that he is either a 
far worse reporter than we want to think, or he saw an entirely 
different film. Taken together with the extensive eyewitness infor- 
mation that th atecstoppecgl dur 	die shooting, as well as many 
other events that are no longer with us in the film, this nation has 
to start looking at this film in new ways. 

After the President was first shot, Dan Rather narrated what he 
saw on the film the next day: "Governor Connally, whose coat but-
ton was open, turned in such a way to extend his right hand out 
towards the President, and the Governor seemed to have a look on 
his face that might say, 'what is it? What happened?' And as he 
turned he exposed his entire shirt front and chest because his coat 
was unbuttoned—at that moment a shot very clearly hit that part 
of the Governor."' We only see Connally's head during this time, 
as the rest of him is obscured by the highway sign." 

Newcomb and Adams wrote, "More evidence of tampering is indi-
cated with the framing of the pictures, especially between frames 
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280-300. There, the heads of both the President and Connally 

scarcely appear, and almost disappear from view. This means that 

the original film was probably refilmed, and refrained, in such a 

manner as to remove certain material just below their heads. 

"The possibility exists that the original Zapruder film was re- 

filmed on an optical printer. Modern cinematography laboratories 

are equipped with optical printing machines that can generate a 

new negative without the `errors' of the original. Optical printers 

can insert new frames, skip frames, resize the images, along with 

other creative illusions. One hour on the optical printer could elimi- 

iwo ft nate the Connally hit."" tri_zonsideration  of the  rather  gross ques- 

1 , 4 44,4 	tions  with regard to the present Bronsotifilms_auttenticity,53  as 

trve'444,„ well as those proofs of forgery of the autopsy photographs and X-

4/.4 4„yi V" rays, one can presume, at this point, that the Zapruder film must 

jvwb, 	be fake. 
Connally is turned around looking at Kennedy when the car is 

behind the lamppost to Zapruder's left. It is quite possible  then 

that Connall 	with  a shot from in front of thesar_to its left, 

from 	 nn_the_budge_facin,g_therm rain 	 car, and this bullet 

hit him in the back and came out his chest. 

Motorcycle policeman Douglas L. Jackson, riding on the right 

side behind the limousine, saw Connally get hit: "Mr. Connally was 

looking back toward me. And about that time then the second shot 

went off. That's the point when I knew that somebody was shooting 

at them because that was the time he [Connally] got hit—because 

he jerked. I was looking directly at him ... he was looking ... kind 

of back toward me and ... he just kind of flinched. 'M 

So much of the description of the film that we have heard all 

these years has been a massive organized propaganda effort to 

cover up for the mistakes in the film, directing attention at other 

things. It is easy for critics to say that Connally was hit ten frames 

after Kennedy was, or a split second later, and so there must be 

a conspiracy, when there is no wa 	e o prove that he was 

hit either with the same 	le 	at hit enned or one just after- 

ward, as alr Ittave. .444.4.4., (64, 	4nhat,r  /1"-:.°0,4  ‘1"4?1 	atta411,--. 

THE EARLY TEAM OF RESEARCHERS, Fred Newcomb and Perry Adams, 

nearly decoded the entire forgery of the film. Their research and 

insight into the faking of the film was extensive—and detailed in a 

book that was never published: Murder From Within. It appears that 

they were taken over and their landmark research into the film 

distorted with entirely outlandish ideas. Newcomb and Adams were 
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basically hurled aside—bitterly, it would seem—arid forgotten. I res-

urrect some of their ideas in this chapter, in hopes that it will give 

leads to those now working on the fakery of the film. 

Newcomb and Adams continued in the unpublished manuscript 

with a description of the film. Most available copies,  when viewed 

on a screen as a movie, are slightly jerky, especially in the movement 

of the limousine. Perhaps the maximum number of cuts was made, 

the greatest number of frames removed, without making it obvious 

to the casual viewer. 

"Certain items could not be altered, such as the President's head 

and body snapping backward, without elaborate artwork. But, of 

those who have seen the film, the cuts are overcome by the way in 

which people see the movie. The viewer's focus is usually on the 

President, not on the other people in the limousine."' Here, note 

that many researchers have expressed the wish that the so-called 

"enhancements" of the film should not focus on the President's 

head for just this reason. 

"Some of the action depicted on the film that was difficult to 

explain had to be eliminated. First, the limousine initially appears 

on available copies some forty feet down from the top of the streee 

it literally leaps into view. Yet, Zapruder stated that he filmed the 

limousine as it turned onto Elm Street from Houston Street.' The 

copy that CBS reporter Dan Rather saw two days after the assassina-

tion apparently had the turn on it because Rather described it.' 

The first frames deleted (155-56) probably showed the clecoystol t 

being fired.... Cuts between frames 207-12 likely relate to two #,144Mir 

areas: reaction to the decoy (first) shot, and the second (throat) 11:1' I  

shot. 
"Between frames 207-12, the President seems to swing his head 

very quickly to his left as if in reaction to the decoy shot. His action 

sharply contrasts with the lack of reaction by those agents in the 

front seat of the President's limousine. The President's reaction to 

the second shot, which hit him in the throat, is missing. Zapruder 

testified, ', .. I heard the first shot and I saw the President lean 

over and grab himself like this [holding his left chest area"' We 

no longer see this. Dan Rather said that 'the President lurched 

forward just a bit, it was obvious he had been hit in the movie.' " 

Interestingly, the Commission failed to print the frames missing 

from Life's  version of the film, which had lost the frames 208-11, 

covered by a splice of 207 to 212. f -..■-.04, WO/ 

Newcomb and Adams end their chaptetr on the Zaprude fiIT 

with a discussion of "altering time."" VW/0 iNPul(w1 r` 
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!?, 
IT IS NOT CLEAR JUST WHERE Zapruder started filming, or if he stopped 
the camera after the lead motorcycles passed by, as we see in the 
present film. Many think that frames have been removed between 
the first sequence of the lead motorcycles and frame 133 when we 
first see the limousine. It is possible that Kennedy was shot first 
once or twice with a poison dart or missile lust after the car turned 
the corner onto Elm Street, and this had to be removed. Zapruder 
does not speak of stopping the camera. 

What he told the Commission about the camera's speed is of vast 
importance to the whole issue of the film's authenticity. The FBI 
came to retrieve his movie camera, a Bell & Howell fie 

l The Bell & Howell camera did not run at a uniform speed, simply 
because it was wound up with a spring and unwound at a variable 
speed. This alone shoots holes in the notion of the film as a "time 
clock of the assassination." Associated Press photographer James 
Altgens, who photographed the assassination as it was happening, 
wrote Doug Mizzer the following: "I believe that in order for you 
to plot events as they happened, you must know the feet per second 
that Zapruder's film was taken. The speed of that camera is variable 
depending on its winding. This is a camera designed mainly for 
personal use, yet it recorded the only full sequence of the assassina-
tion, becoming a very valuable instrument. Since the speed is ques-
tionable, you can readily see many questions about when the 
sequence of events took place.''65  

low 411,1 NEWCOMB AND ADAMS are convinced that some Secret Service agents 
poil shot at Kennedy from two directions or more. Their analysis is seri- 

ously impaired by the fantastic assertion that the driver yak= 
Greer shot both Kennedy and Governor Connally. This distracts 

wi attention from their massive research into whether someone near 
the limousine not necessarily in it) fired a gun, and whether, at,. 
any point, the limousine stopped. One gets the idea that if agents 
really were involved in the shooting, their immediate control over 
the Zapruder film (through Forrest Sorrels), Marina Oswald, and 
other matters in this case tells us a lot. But more important is the 
possibility that Howard Donahue's theory of a Secret Service man 
accidentally shooting Kennedy, unsupported by any eyewitness testi-
mony or visual evidence, was one more straw issue raised for the 
purpose of knocking down the real facts. 

"The alterations after the fatal shot probably were concerned 
with eliminating the limousine stop and the rush by Secret Service 
agents upon it. Indeed, the Secret Service made an effort '... to 

I, &MI  
Andee 
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FRAME 133 

Using Plat December 1963 
bairns County Surveyor 
for U.S. Secret Service 
(by Martin Shackelford) 

ZAPRUDER 

4r. 

ti 

Where the limousine first appears in the Zapruder film, 
at frame 133. 
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ascertain whether any [movie news] film could be found showing  

special agents on the ground alongside the presidential automobile 
at any point along  the parade route,' 

There was extensive (tint that the shots came from either 

Ike, I, close to the car orn the ca At the time, some said the shots came 
from Secret 	Service men either in the car or close  to it.' Photogra- 

pher Hugh Betzner said that he "saw what looked like a firecracker 

going  of in the President's car."" 
Could anything  like this have happened? Is there such a massive 

cover-up going  on in this case that no one can even conceive of as 

thinkable the whole story of the great force that was used that 

terrible day in the ambush? That men shot Kerinecyl  from alongside 

the 	street with mison-ftechtitzto 	freeze him in place, that a timed 

7440 444-i grenade was used under the car, that the car actual y stopped dur 

14,  wt,...r 	in the shooting  so that the long  range snipers even two blocks 

attlad4441 
	away wo 	not miss? Before dismissing  such ideas as absurd, read 

the testimony in the following  pages, and keep in mind that it 

r1 /41"",' Atio,  comes mostly from sources that have been public for decades. The 
point is, researchers and critics for all of these years had us focused 

on some of the evidence in the case, distracting  us from so much 

other evidence that the limousine stopped and that the shots oc-
curred not at all where we were told they happened. And who has 

the time to_fincLit_all in the record? "1.4)N -- 
Betzner said that he saw what "looked like a nickel revolver in 

someone's hand in the President's car or somewhere immediately 
around his car."67 (This was probably sunlight glinting  off the mi-
crophone in Kellerman's hand.) Even Associated Press photogra-
pher James Altgens said that shot came from "the left side of the 
car ... if it were a pistol, it would have to be fired at close range 
for any degree of accuracy."" Some of the Secret Service men did 
describe it as a pistol shot A man (George A. Davis) looking  down 

from the overpass into the car before it passed beneath, said, "he 
saw guns in the hands of the Secret Service agents with President 

Kennedy, saw President Kennedy slumped forward ..."" This was 
probably agent George W. Hickey of the follow-up car. The Za-
pruder film shows very clearly that the two agents in the front seat 
of the limo did not have guns in their hands. We see Kellerman 

talking  on the radio, and that is about it. But what of Greer's early 
statement that it was he who talked on the radio—a statement he 
retracted. 

"Well, the way it sounded like, it came from the, I would say 
from right there in the car," Austin L Miller told the Warren Com-
mission,7° Ralph Yarborough, the former Marine and the United 
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States senator from Texas, was three cars back from the limousine 
and insisted that there was gun smoke in the street. He said it clung 
to the car all the way to Parkland Hospital." This would seem terri-
bly unlikely were it not for all the other witnesses who smelled 
gunpowder in the street. The street is not on the Knoll, nor could 
it come from the sixth-floor window, where no one smelled any 
smoke two minutes later when they got up there (Deputy Sheriff 
Luke Mooney was among them."). They would have had to smell 
gun smoke had a rifle been fired. Billy Martin, another motorcycle 
policeman with the car, said that "you could smell the gunpow-
der.... you knew he wasn't far away. When you're that close you 
can smell the powder burning why you—you've got to be pretty 
close to them.... you could smell the gunpowder ... right there 
in the street.' 

Some of the other witnesses to the strong smell of gunpowder 
included the mayor's wife, Mrs. Elizabeth Cabe11, who said that she 
was "acutely aware of the odor of gunpowder."74  Congressman Ray 
Roberts, sitting next to her, had smelled it also:5  Photographer 
Tom Dillard had smelled it. He "very definitely smelled gunpowder 
when the cars moved up at the corner [of Elm and Houston 
streets]."'" Virginia Rackley," Dallas police officer Joe M. Smith,'" 
and police officer Earle Brown smelled it.'" The Chicago Tribune put 
it this way that afternoon: "Seconds later the cavalcade was gone. 
The area still reeked with the smell of gunpowder." It's highly un-
likely the smell came down from the window. 

THE FILM MUST HAVE BEEN CHANGED because there were two strong 
head movements in opposite directions from two head shots a sec-
ond or so apart, one from in back and one from in front. The two 
sequences were combined into one deadly visualization on the film 
in composite frames, and they decided to stick with the backward 
movement because of both its existence on other films out of the 
control of the conspirators and the difficulty of faking so many 
frames so quickly.Lforwardmometneat which  Rarher  at was 
simply excised. L4-4 t 	A-14%1 yU 

Abraham Zapruder described it in his Warren Commission testi-
mony to Wesley Liebeler: "Tell us what happened as you took 
these pictures." 

"Well, as the car came in line almost, I believe it was almost in 
line, I was standing up here and I was shooting through a telephoto 
lens, which is a zoom lens, and as it reached about—I imagined it 
was around here—I heard the first shot and I saw the President 
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lean over and grab himself like this [holds his left chest area]."" 

Zapruder cried when he testified to this. There is no background 

inefil
other t h angreen  grass at the time of the fatal head shot. 

Presumalyt
}ezoomensremovedtherestofeciyclosehy. 

tv411)1- Chester Breneman, one of the surveyors of Deal ,  Ffiia ‘vorking 

from Life's slides made from the Zapruder film frames, said that 

the numbers of the frames were changed, and he described things 

in the frames that are no longer there. He told reporters that on 

Ai November 25, 1963, he had still photos made from all frames of 

the Zapnider film by Life magazine and they showed "large blobs 

of blood and brain matter flying from Kennedy's head to the rear 

of the car."' We don't see this anymore. 

404,̀  Dr. Pierre Finck described what the film showed in his report to 

General Blumberg: "I saw the movie several times, at eighteen 

frames per second and at slow motion. I also saw the 35 millimeter 

color lantern slides made from this movie, frame by frame. The 

movie and the slides show the President slumping forward after 

being hit in the back. Then it seems that Governor Connally has a 

spastic expression on his face, as he has been hit. His thigh is not 

visible and there is no evidence that blood appeared on his injured 

right wrist. Then came the shot through Kennedy's head."" This 

is confirmed by Daryll Weatherly's examination of frames 242-78 

in the National Archives, that there is no definitive evidence of 

blood on the wrist. 
The film suggests that it was reframed after the sign, around 

frames 285-90, when we only see Connally's head, and not his chest 

during a time when he is turned halfway around and looking di-

rectly at Kennedy, long after he was supposed to have been shot at 

frame 235, at the latest. Again, Dan Rather saw a version of this 

film that showed Connally getting hit in the chest, perhaps at just 

that point. 
Other versions of the film switch to blown-up frames showing 

only JFK and Jackie just after the car emerges from behind the sign, 

so that most background data is eliminated. The continual mixing 

of the different versions of the film on national television and in 

other presentations ultimately makes it impossible to know just what 

it is that we are seeing. In time, many more versions of the film can 

be expected to proliferate. In some of the same obviously modified 

(enhanced?) versions of the film, the Sterrmmnsiree-way-sigu-jumps 

rota 	 c aangesshape from frame to frame. 

After the car passes the last lamppost before the head shot, dur-

ing the key frames leading up to the head shot, the film starts 

changing and is reframed. The whole film is blown up at that point. 

14, 

dietAm- 

t4Aat qt 
dAt 
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The blurs in the film are very pronounced, and they seem to be 
superimposed frames to make double images. This creates the illu-
sion of movement, and fills in for missing frames. 

ll  %1 For years, so much of the research on the film was limited to 
14 one or another of these wildly conflicting versions, and so misled 

u..  )vihr countless people and produced very deficient or incompetent inter- . 	
'pretations of what the film showed. 

v4/44sm ' 

THE STOPPED LIMOUSINE 

1 	
"For a chaotic moment, the motorcade ground to an uncertain 
halt.-  But the Newsweek" writer was not a witness. 

i/Vtiiit64( ineSoamre 
no 
To o  events tsn 

longer 	
nscsriebe  describes 

th da  in Deale a few witnesses 
 Plfaza durthe sh 

in thefil 	
u 

ii 	insisted f 
1,/iwe  

that the limousine stopped altogether during the shooting. Chuck 
Marler. a researcher in Riverside, California, studied the issue of 
the film independently of our team, and his publication of an article 
in The Fourth Decade seemed to be the first real notice in thirty 
years by someone in print in a research journal—outside of the 
assault I launched on the film in two of my previous books—that 
the question of the Zapruder film's authenticity was fair game. 	tfidi Itilf V 

But is there a confusion of the motorcade itself, versus the limou- / 
1)4  sine stopping? Only a close analysis of each statement in the evi- , 

dente might clarify it. Martin Shackelford writes, "The motorcade 
came to a halt in the confusion as the limousine sped off, then 
proceeded rather raggedly, as the films and photos show."88  But 
there is evidence that the limousine slowed nearly to a stop during 
the shooting. The films don't show this. ;94"-Coale" Ida' Mari& 1410  140 41  

Penn Jones was the first to try to make an issue of the stopping 
ot 

and when the shots were fired, it 

of the limousine, and Mader gives this listing of witnesses: Dallas 
police officer Earle Brown on the railroad bridge over Stemmons 
freeway: "After it made the turn  
stopped."88  Officer James Chaney and others told Officer Marion 
Baker that "after the first shot rang out, the car stopped completely, 

called to the ft and stopped ... Mr. Truly was standing out there, 
he said it stopped. Several officers said it stopped completely."r 

Corroborating this was the supervisor of the Texas School Book 
Depository. Roy Truly said: "I saw the President's carswebe 
left and stop somewhere down this area."88  
—Chaney was recorded saying more to a radio reporter at Parkland 
Hospital shortly after the assassination: "The first shot we thought 
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was a motorcycle back-fire and then I looked to my left and saw 
President Kennedy looking back over his shoulder and when the 
second struck him in the face, then we kinevittlit s meone was shoot-
ing  at the President." 11,4 alttAc.e.. ( 

"When you saw the bullet hit him, what did you do?" /11/444( 
;t4 41a- 	"He slumped forward in the car, he fell forward in the seat" 

"And Mrs. Kennedy did what?" 
"I don't know, when I'd seen it, he was hit, well I went ahead to 

tell Chief Curry's group there that he had been hit and we took 
him on to the hospital." 

Senator Ralph Yarborough told the Warren Commission in an 
affidavit that "when the noise of the shot was heard, the motorcade 
slowed to what seemed to me a complete stop ... after the third 
shot was fired, but only after the third shot, the cavalcade 
speeded up." 

Mrs. Earle Cabell, the wife of the mayor of Dallas, told the Warren 
Commission that "she was aware the motorcade stopped dead still. 

arc 	pt There was no question about that."91 
James Simmons, standing on the bridge overlooking  the car, said 

PI /4 	the limousine "stopped, or almost stopped," prior to the fatal shot. 
Simmons worked for the railroad and was standing  on the bridge 
in a perfect place to see what was happening over on Elm Street 
as the limousine approached him directly. He testified at the trial 
of Clay Shaw in New Orleans, February 15, 1969, and was asked 
"Then did the car speed up?" 

"Yes, after they got the motorcycle policemen out of the way." 
One of the motorcycle policemen nearest the car, Bobby Hargis, 

said, "I felt blood hit me in the face and the presidential car 
stopped almost immediately after that." 

Governor John Connally said: "... then, after the third shot, the 
next thing that occurred, I was conscious the Secret Service man, 
of course, the chauffeur, had, ah, had pulled out of line ..."" 

Officer Billy Martin said the car stopped "just for a moment.."" 
Martin was on the motorcycle next to Hargis. Officer Douglas L. 
Jackson said "that car just all but stopped ... just a moment 
Officer Marrion L. Baker said that the other police told him the 
limousine stopped completely"' Joe H. Rich, a Texas highway pa-
trolman driving Vice President Lyndon Johnson's follow-up car, said 
that "the motorcade came to a stop momentarily." Robert Baskin, 
one of the reporters in the motorcade, said "the motorcade ground 
to a halt." UPI's book Four Days said in a caption to a photograph 
made from a film: "The driver slams on the brakes ..."100,:zi-zotra." 

Newcomb and Adams wrote in their unpublished 1974 manu- 
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script that "some twenty other witnesses at various locations in the 

7;frr plaza 	tC-fi--T-"t5-rn 	he presidential limousine coming to a stop," and 
V t; 	

listed them. ' 
Even Gerald Posner, who is not a witness, said the driver of the car "slowed the vehicle almost to a standstill." It is a mystery how he arrived at this conclusion, since it isn't what is shown on the film—and that is the issue here.' 

tp/PA 	There was evidence that the motorcade stopped for a moment after having passed under the railroad overpass at the entrance ramp to the freeway, apparently_ to confer on directions and what had just happ_ened. It would be easy to confuse this stoppage of the cars with a stoppage or hesitation on Elm Street in the Plaza itself during the shooting. 
Time put it this way: "There was a shocking momentary stillness, a frozen tableau."' This was the terrible moment when we are led to believe that Kennedy was first shot, but of what are they speaking with this literary flourish? Certainly, there is little movement if any in the backseats of the fatal car for many frames before the fatal head shot. The whole scene seems to be a set piece moved from frame to frame. 

We cannot see the first su-ike on Kennedy because it is conve-niently hidden behind the Stemmons Freeway sign. 

.4141-A4l At 4  'IV/414w4' 	"44441  Ad( CERTAINLY, FRAMES SHOWING THE CAR STOPPED had to be removed. 
(Xs' 

	

	0___ReunglitLugpose that the car was actually stopped when it. was hidden from Zapruder's camera by the sign. Stretch-framing the film with composite frames was a good way to get the car moving again. "What is clear," Newcomb and Adams postulated, "is that frames have been removed. Time has been deleted from the film. With time removed, the film is useless as a clock for the assassina-tion."' Keep in mind how many times this nation has been told on television and radio and college lecture audiences that the film was a clock of the assassination. That is what they wanted us to think and believe. 
"Some of the altered frames are indicative of the car having been moving far more slowly than the admitted average speed of 11 mph," Daryl! Weatherly says. If the car was moving slowly, the pic-ture and background should be clear, with no blurring, but if there are conflicting vectors, then it is evidence of alteration to cover up a drastically slowed or stopped car. Other material may have had to be disrupted or removed, such as the actions of a bystander. There is quite a blur of the film at frame 290, which might be 
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Zapruder's reaction to the shot that I think hit Connally at 286. 

Nobel laureate physicist Luis Alvarez said that this is the point where 

the Zapruder film showed that the President's car suddenly deceler-

ated for about half a second from 12 to 8 mph. Greer probably 

took his foot off the accelerator. Alvarez speculated that Greer was 

reacting to the siren being turned on in the follow-up car behind 

him, but the important thing is his calculation based solely on 

the film that the car did in fact slow drastically just before the 

head shot one second later.' The car may not stop in the film 

that we now have, but it comes perilously close. It may very 

well have stopped for an instant and this frame or frames 

were removed. 3 lvtli 	ti.-4 1̂ 944  afi,00. 4  ' .44+,444_ 

My tendency is to think the driver was part of the conspiracy, 

and he stopped or slowed greatly until Kennedy had been struck 

in the head. Greer, driving slowly at about ten miles an hour, then 

turned around and looked at Kennedy and waited for it to happen. 

That could get his foot off the accelerator. 

nam..tv-0 	I have been told that it is irresponsible to accuse Greer of doing 

this, but the terrible fact remains that he failed to get the car out 

11,0 	of there for long seconds after the shots began to fly. 

The stopped or radically slowed car had to be removed from the 

film. Some people give the explanation that the car stopped because 

Jackie crawled out on the trunk, but this did not happen until well 

after the head shot, and both agents in the front seat are faced 

forward and could not know she was out there. The car is clearly 

racing after that, as soon as Clint Hill got a foot on the step at the 

rear of the car and had a firm grip. If the car did stop while she 

was on the trunk, after the fatal head shot, then why does it not 

show in the film? What reason would there to be to remove that 

sequence? The car had to be stopped before she left her seat. 

If the car was radically slowed or stopped, the other films would 

have to be rolling to capture it. The Nix and Muchmore cameras 

did not start again until just before the head shot. If the car was 

stopped or radically slowed in front of the Stemmons highway sign, 

closer to the corner of Houston and Elm, those films would not 

capture it. it kitor/t4vr?"1 1444T? 

Another4)efie1,is that Secret Service men tried to get in the car. 

It is not clear whether this merely refers to Clint Hill running after 

the car from the follow-up vehicle, or to others actually trying to 

get in, but once again there are several examples of testimony indi-

cating that more than one agent tried to reach Ilie—Cat-Tn'Yer; the 

film does not show this. We only see Clint Hill running after the 

car, after the fatal shot. 
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I think the driver of the limousine, Greer, in the Altgens photo-
graph has been completely painted over so as to show nothing more 
than his silhouette, and no flesh tones or detail (we see him in left 
profile turned all the way around to his right) in the windshield of 
the head-on photograph of the car—where we see Kennedy clutch-
ing at his throat. Similarly, according to Newcomb and Adams, the 
movie shows that "retouching is evident on the front of the limou-
sine windshield on the driver's side to obscure his movements."'" 

THE STEMMONS FREEWAY SIGN 
04614 	44.004- 

'kVA There were three large highway signs on theg 	of the last 
block of Elm Sweet, where the assassination too p ace. The first, 
nearest the corner, was that of the R. L. Thornton Freeway sign. 
The Stemmons Freeway sign was in the middle of the block and is 
the one hiding the motorcade from Zapruder during key seconds 
of the assassination. The third sign was near the underpass and 
directed drivers onto the Forth Worth Turnpike. 

The Thornton Freeway sign was taken down just after the shoot-
ing, and replaced with a Stemmons Freeway sign, according to the 
testimony of the groundskeeper, Emmett Hudson.' There is much 
evidence that the Stemmons sign was immediately moved after the 
assassination, but perhaps not by much. One good reason for its 
removal was to scramble its position for the reenactment. The sign 
appears to have been replaced for the reenactments, but did they 
put it in the same place it had been before? Was the Stemmons 
Freeway sign seen in the Willis photograph and moved in Zaprud-
er's film? 

A study of the limousine indicated that it moved one foot per 
frame until it reached frames 197 and 218, when it was behind the 
freeway sign)" Then the car crawled forward just ten feet within 
twenty-one frames. Doug Mizzer detected an oddity of the film dur-
ing that period, with the sign lengthened side to side in successive 
frames. Mizzer demonstrated the changing configuration of the sign 
to us at a conference held in the mountains in California on June 
4, 1994. Mizzer saw this without knowing that Newcomb and Adams 
had noted it twenty years before. There were different versions of 
the film, showing different things. The sign seemed to widen when 
one edge was in the area between the sprocket holes. Perhaps this 
is an effect of the camera operation. 

155 
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ENHANCEMENT 

One of the more disquieting aspects of all this is the grave possibility 
that crucial photographic evidence has been tampered with by re-
searchers under the guise of so-called "enhancement," ostensibly 
to improve our understanding of it, but really to obtain a supposed 
copyright or to sidetrack us from real understanding. 

Enhancing the film removes crucial data and makes forgery harder 
to detect. Marler comments, "When one views the Zapruder film 
without the close-up enhancements, the limousine reduces its speed 
significantly between frames 255 and 313—substantially more than 
the 1.2 miles per hour. This obvious reduction of speed prior to 
frame 313 also occurs as the limousine is becoming more perpen-
dicular to the location of Abraham Zapruder—which should visually 
appear to be going faster, even if there wasn't a reduction in speed. 

1441 	When tracking a moving object with a movie camera, the closer the 
object approaches the photographer, the faster the camera has to 
be moved to keep the object within the frame."' 

The present film has the car moving at the very slow speed of 
ten to eleven miles per hour,'" and our mathematical studies of 
the film along with my measurements of the distances between ob-
jects in the Plaza show that the car slowed down to seven or eight 
miles per hour at the moment of the fatal head shot." 

In 1967, CBS claimed that Zapruder's Bell & Howell camera may 
have been running a bit slower than the Warren Commission 
thought. CBS also believed that the first shot was fired at frame 186 
(and missed), which was more than two seconds before Connally 
was hit but too late for the bullet to have been fired from Oswald's 
gun, and then fired again at Kennedy and Connall when they were 
both claimed to be hit. 	 ca.c44.641.0?"94-n-"1 

It is interesting that the House committe fot.trti .hat a shot had 
been fired at frame 160, a very difficult if not impossible shot at a 
steep angle from the sixth-floor window looking down on the car. 
But the House had a second shot striking both victims at 188-191." 
Kennedy is clearly reacting by frame 200. If we count back forty-
two frames from 190, we get a shot at frame 148 at the earliest for 

THE JIGGLES AND THE SHOTS 
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the Oswald rifle's capability. The HSCA never thought through the conflicts in what they presented. Connally is not hit before 225, or perhaps 236—if he was hit at all then, which is what the Zapruder film now hows, according to many. Obviously, this gives us a few more s ots than was possible for one man. Connally thought he was hit around frame 236. But then, he was looking at a fake film. Try frame 285.  0.1..-14- 

What f4pened to the shot at 186? The House said it hit. Many years before, CBS said it missed, basing their analysis on the fact that the camera jiggled at that point. They ignore numerous other jiggles which could just as easily have been caused by rifle shots as well. At frame 318, a split second after the fatal head shot at 313, the camera moves violently. 	or, ,okiDster ) CBS found two additional jiggles:. at 	190 and at 227. It seems to me that any of these might in fact be reactions to shots, but not all from Oswald, if he fired any at all. Since CBS did not mention other jiggles, do they know something we don't—that these were in fact shots? Are they speaking to us with a forked tongue, like those Russian writers who could not mention the Tsar's name in their writing, but spoke of a "Certain Pe pn"? Per. is the media cannot come right out and say what ey t , in the face of the awesome power they must know was be Ind all of this. It's all very convoluted. As long as they say Oswald did it and did it alone, they can give other evidence adding up to conspiracy. For the record, Josiah Thompson points out that there are much greater jiggles, at Z 197, Z 210, and Z 331."1  "If each of the jig ass. in the Zapruder film is to be correlated with a shot, then at least six shots were fired in the Z 170-334 interval alone."** This is not counting the jiggles (shots?) that appear both earlier and later. Life magazine supposed that the other blurs are most probably caused by imperfections in the camera mechanism that permit the film to move a short distance either toward or away from the lens."' CBS claimed that the camera was running slower than the Com-mission thought. The Warren Commission printed the manner in which the speed of the camera was determined"' both by Bell & Howell and the FBI, which came up with the same answer: 18.3 frames per second. How did CBS find that they were wrong? CBS did not have Zapruder's camera, so they used five other similar 
**There are two important appendices at the end of Josiah Thompson's Six Seconds in Dallas dealing with the Zapruder film: Appendix 8: Calculations From Zapruder Frames 301-330, and Appendix C: Calculation of Velocity of Presidential Vehicle From Zapruder Frames 301-330. Unfortunately, his book is very hard to find these days, and ought to be reprinted. 
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cameras for their tests, all of which ran at different speeds. Three 
of them ran faster than Zapruder's camera. The average speed for 
the five was within an infinitesimal .044 frames per second of that 
which the FBI and the manufacturer found. Thompson says, "Once 
again a so-called scientific test was used by CBS to throw dust in 
the eyes of its viewers.""' 

THE MAN WHO HELPED CONDUCT the surveys of Dealey Plaza for both 
Life magazine and the Warren Commission, Chester Breneman, said 
that the Warren Commission falsified their figures from the survey. 
"They [the figures in the survey] were at odds with our figures. 
After checking a few figures, I said 'that's enough for me,' and I 
stopped reading. For instance, on our map, we marked the spot 
corresponding to Zapruder film frame 171. The Warren Commis-
sion changed this to 166 before they used it in the report. The 
Warren Commission shows a 210 where we show a 208.'  

Breneman saw some of the frames from the Zapruder film. 
Within days of the shooting, Life had a team of investigators in 
Dallas, one of whom wore a bulletproof vest. They used the frames 
from the film to study where the shots occurred. Breneman saw 
things on the photos of all the frames that no longer exist on the 
film, such as large amounts of blood and brain matter flying from 
Kennedy's head behind the car. Breneman was convinced that the 
shots came from two different directions. 

Breneman described examining a bullet mark on the curb on 
the south side of the street. He talked about the highway sign being 
removed just after the assassination which he was told had a stress 
mark from a bullet. Nobody knows where the sign is. "It's my un-
derstanding that this particular sign was quickly taken down and no 
one has been able to locate it.""9  

The Life investigator with the bulletproof vest told him, "My life 
isn't worth a plug nickel on this investigation." 

Surveyor Breneman said, "The only thing I know for sure is that 
shots came from two different directions." 

HOW TO FORGE A FILM 

Richard Burgess, writing in The Fourth Decade, describes how a film 
be fabricated. My advisors say that this is accurate. Unfortunately, all 
that Burgess discusses in his short article is what one would have to 
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do to add artwork to an existing film frame. His example is what I call the "blob" on Kennedy's face, which I'm sure has been clearly added onto the film, though I did not imagine that someone would take the last statement literally. A retouch artist does not paint on the film itself, which was Burgess's interpretation of what I wrote in High Treason 2 about the "blob." See pages 363-68 of that book. "Any attempted modification would necessitate the enlargement of the film to 35mm (to maintain clarity, and reduce changes in color saturation and balance, contrast, and grain), various types of optical printing with travelling mattes, and then reduction back to 8mm. The conspirators would have to begin by rear-projecting each frame onto the back of an animator's drawing table and tracing each successsive frame of Kennedy onto a piece of paper. This is known as rotoscoping. (Robert Groden uses this term completely incorrectly when he refers to his image stabilization of the Zapruder film.)'' Then an animator would have to animate the 'blob' by drawing it into the successive rotoscoped images of Kenned 's head. These drawings would then he transferred to animation cels'and painted. The area around the painted wound on each ce would then be painted black. Another set of eels would then he copied, but with the wound painted black and the rest of the eel clear. These images would then be filmed with an animation camera onto two sets of film, one with the wound surrounded by black (film 1) and the other with a black blob floating in mid-air on clear film (film 2). This is a travelling matte." 
Burgess continues, "Next the Zapruder film enlargement would be run through an optical printer with film 2 on top in correct frame register producing film 3. This film would show a black hole where the wound should be. Film 3 would then be rewound and film I (the wound surrounded by black) would be run through the printer exposing film 3 again. Since black does not expose the film, the surrounding black of film I wouldn't expose the already ex-posed Zapruder film and, if the copying of the eels was done exactly and the job was done properly on a high quality optical printer, the painted wound would fit right into the unexposed hole in film 3 like a moving jigsaw puzzle piece. Film 3 is reduced back to 8mm and there you have it: faked Zapruder 

Daryl! Weatherly, a mathematician with a background in physics, responds: "This is an accurate description of the basic technique that would be used, although a few things should be added. In the first step, enlargement to 35mm (or larger) film, the image area plus the sprocket hole area at the extreme left would have to be reproduced in the image area of the larger film, since the type of 

I 
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film magazine used by Zapruder had an aperture that allowed light 
to reach this area. In the final step of reduction back to 8mm film, 
it would be necessary to use this same type of magazine to ensure 
that the sprocket hole area is exposed." 

Mark Crouch describes this method of forging a film: "To alter 
a film at this level doesn't even require much equipment. The film 
is projected frame-by-frame onto the rear of a glass screen. The 
corrupted copy is then recorded frame by frame. When they reach 
the head-shot frame, they just add a little paint to the glass, shoot that 
frame, then clean the glass. They then project the next frame, redo 
their little touch-ups to match perspective, then go on. They really 
only have to do about fifty frames and the alterations are very nonde-
script, like enlarging the 'blob' and blacking in the back of the head 
and the limousine."m This is called "aerial imaging" photography. 

THE ARGUMENT FOR AND AGAINST FORGERY 

Crouch then presents a very good argument for why and how the 
forgery would have happened. 

The truth about the Z-film is that it was never meant to be 
micro analyzed the way it has... , The real 'evidence' of Z-Film 
alteration is more subjective than objective. If you believe, as I 
do, that a trained and directed team of assassins were in the Plaza, 
then you must assume they observed Zapruder standing up there 
with his camera. The assassins would have had no way of knowing 

tkv)11L' 	if he'd innocently panned his camera toward them just before or 
during the assassination. Therefore, if there was a trained and 
directed team in the Plaza, they would have been very concerned 
with what Zapruder's camera may have recorded. This is essential 
if you believe they were not only there to kill Kennedy but to 
frame LHO. The whole frame-up around Oswald would have 
melted like a snowball in July if there was clear photographic 
evidence of another shooter. 

"Logic would therefore dictate that (and I'm assuming that 
Zapruder was not an accessory before the fact) the plotters or their 
agents would have to: (A) examine the Zapruder film closely before 
it was released for any incriminating evidence and (B) if it were 
incriminating they would have to either alter, destroy or sequester it. 

"What would the plotters be most worried about (aside from 
the film actually showing an assassin)? The obvious answeriseA-.. 
Bence of  frontal head entry. To conceal this they would need to 

itikvit\tkAralroir Ivtruitt 	iturkikb- 
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do three things which would have required only minor touch-ups 
on certain frames: They needed to conceal evidence of a bullet 
striking the forehead at the hairline. The flap/blob does this 
quite nicely. They would also need to darken in the hole in the 
back of the head that all the witnesses saw. This, too, required 
only a little touch-up of a few frames. The last thing they had to 
do was to obscure the white-pink matter that splattered the rear 
of the limo. This, too, is nothing more than a little blackout 
touch-up work. 

"Take a look at some of the raw NBC footage from the ER 
entrance at Parkland, Kellerman and Greer have spread a tarp 
over the back deck of the limol It must have been and should 
have been a mess, but I don't see a Amn thing in the Za- 
ruder film) 1+ Wild fkAt. 414.14 w 	Airao— 44? 

44a40-.P  But AZgli  Mizzer has found brain and head matter passing along 

"10411 

the edge of the trunk for four frames of the film. 

THIS TS IN RESPONSE TO Richard Burgess's article "On the Authentic-
ity of the Zapruder Film" (September, 1994, Fourth Decade) in which 
he attacks any notion of forgery, while admitting that half of the 
forward part of Kennedy's head is missing in a series of frames 
sometime after the head shot.'* 

Burgess says that "since the Zapruder film does not match the 
eyewitness testimony, it is claimed that someone has darkened the 
back of Kennedy's head, thus obliterating the damage of the occipi-
tal-parietal area, and painted on what Livingstone calls 'the blob,' 
a red area that covers Kennedy's face and seems to reproduce the 
wounds of the autopsy photographs."* 

Burgess starts with a logical fallacy: "Arguments of fakery should 
arise from peculiarities within the film itself, not from comparison 
with other evidence." This is a simplistic and preposterous distor-
tion of criminal investigation. Yes, the intrinsic clues of forgery are 
contained within the film itself, but that is only one method of 
proof. The principal means of covering up this case has been just 
that sort of false argument: that the observations of the witnesses 
to gunmen in front of or to the side of the car is mistaken because 
there yataa_meclicaLeAdertcecaffrontal shots; that the observations 
of a large hole in the back right rear of the head is false because 
the photographs and X-rays do not show it; that the observations 

(Item 

*See color photos in High Treason 2, and the chapter on the film in that 
book, as well as the chapter in Killing the Truth. See pp. 155-56 of the former book, and pp. 77, 89, 306-7, 339, 540-41 of the latter. 
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of a very small hole indicative of an entry hole in the throat are 

inaccurate because there was no gunman in front. 

You can't easily dismiss the testimony of thirty people that the 

limousine stopped completely during the shooting. We don't see 

this in the film, if they mean the car stopped completely, except 

for the scene in the car. There are a lot of things we no longer see 

in the film. Shots were removed, and those that the film makes us 

aware of, are moved farther up the street. The film removed time 

and space. 
Daryll Weatherly, a lecturer in mathematics at the State University 

of New York, utilizes vector analysis—one of the tools of physics—

for identifying altered frames, and this is explained in his article in 

the Appendix. 
Burgess attempts to technically debunk the possibility of forgery, 

but is way off base. I suppose it is hard for the average person to 

imagine how it could be done. They give up quickly, forgetting that 

there are plenty of master forgers around who know how to do 

these things. 
It does not help for Burgess to state that "Livingstone believes 

that all one needs to do is draw or paint on the surface of the 

film." I did not express myself quite correctly in the statement he 

refers to in High Treason 2 (p. 155). I did not mean that the paint 

was actually put on the film. An entirely different means is used to 

animate an actual film from real life. Color transparencies or mattes 

are used. Faking film is nearly as old as the art of photography 

itself. I meant that paint is used both to create the image one wishes 

to add, and to retouch a picture or frame. Paint is used to cover 

over and make opaque that which is to be removed, and to create 

an image. It is used on a clear celluloid acetate (same as film strip, 

but thicker) or other material and then photographed on an anima-

tion stand to make a new picture. Even paper can be used. 

Burgess says that faking the "blob" would be a job for "masters." 

It was, and they did it. But it was relatively easy to create. Burgess's 

caveat to the problems in faking all of this is not substantial. It was 

easy to misstate my belief as to how the forgery was done. Burgess 

wrote that I "believed" that it was simply painted on the surface of 

the film. It is a painting that was composed with the film. In some 

frames, the whole scene in the limo is clearly a painting, especially 

Jackie's face. 
The "blob" I wrote about in High Treason 2 is clearly a fabrica-

tion. This year, Dr. David Mantik, Daryll Weatherly, Doug Mizzer, 

and I spent many hours in the National Archives studying the 

frames of the film. Mantik said that its location appeared to change 
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from frame to frame. The "blob" on the front of the face does not 
correspond to any anatomic structure whatsoever. Close study 
clearly shows that it is not a flap of skin, brain, or scalp. 

At one point after the fatal shot, President Kennedy's head be-
comes a mere stub, or stump as some call it, missing the entire 
front quarter of the skull from just in front of the ears to the top 
of the head, with the face gone. The most major mistake of the 
forgers was to leave only the rear stub of a head for several frames. 
Through the missing area we can see Jackie's dress perfectly where 
her husband's head ought to be. See p. 366 of High Treason 2 for 
my earlier discussion of the stump. 

For the preceding frames before "the stump," we have "the 
blob" to mystify medical people and any of us who thought about 
it. The "stump" and the "blob" will be the ultimate undoing of 
the film and the cover-up. 

It is impossible, knowing what we know now, for the Zapruder 
film not to be fake, and it is anything but a completely true image 
of the wounds Kennedy received that day in Dallas. 

The film once showed the second head shot, which was not simul-
taneous with the rear head shot. It came from the front—but farther 
down the street than frame 312. The film still has the evidence of 
the second head shot from in front. 

Concerning the grain structure on the film, Burgess says, "The 
film into which this animated wound was to be set is very grainy; 
yet the animated wound would not be. It would show up instantly, 
since it would share none of the surrounding original grain (which 
it obviously does in the existing film). There is no way this could 
be faked. Even if the animated wound were filmed on 8mm film 
first and then enlarged to 35mm, the shifting grain structures would 
be different enough to reveal the joint, especially when blown up 
(as all images of the head by necessity are)." 

Weatherly replies: "His argument has a basic weakness. The con-
tention that composite images would have to show an irregularity 
in grain structure ignores the final step, reduction to 8mm film to 
simulate a camera original. The graininess of 8mm film would be 
an asset there, imposing a new grain structure on the entire scene." 

Burgess tells us that any addition of an image to the film that 
had not been there during the original photography would not be 
as sharp as the rest and easily detectible. "This lack of sharpness 
would create a 'matte bleed,' that is, there would be an obvious 
'line' around the matted wound where the image of film 1 did not 
fit exactly into the hole in film 2." 

We are familiar with many movies, advertisements, and photo- 
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graphs that composite different images in one scene with no detecti-
ble evidence of it. Burgess betrays a flaw in his understanding of 
industry techniques able to do this for generations. They wouldn't 
do it if their work was not professional, and they do it all the time, 
though prior to 1977, composite movie frames were detectable, if 
one knew what to look for. 

The basic thrust of Burgess's argument seems to be that the film 
cannot have any animated material, because an attempt at fakery 
would cause it to have the very features that lead us to suspect 
animation. 

His argument seems to be that animation would make the 
"blob" look animated. That is a major reason why we think it is 
animated, not just the fact that no such wound was later seen by 
anyone: It looks patently fake, bobbing around on the head as it 
does in the moving film. The still slides of the film at the National 
Archives, in addition, show the "blob" to be unreal. It is rather 
obvious. 

Burgess says that another "problem would be one of paints. How 
could the animator achieve a realistic-looking wound that didn't 
look like paint? The flap in the Zapruder film is obviously glistening 
flesh; reproducing that to match the colors, tonalities, and light 
source of the Zapruder film would be a job for a master." 

There are many realistic artists throughout history who could 
paint things so realistically that they cannot be distinguished from 
a photograph. There are plenty of masters around. Burgess also 
makes a fallacious assumption here, that the wound is realistic. It 
isn't. It is unreal, since it does not and cannot correspond to any 
anatomic structure of Kennedy or known wound of his. It does not 
look real at all. The slides in the Archives clearly show that it is not 
a flap, but in fact a "blob" as I have said. Burgess says that "repro-
ducing" (he means producing) a wound would be a job for a master. 
He seems to be saying that a master could do it, but there are no 
masters. This is untrue. 

As for the realism of the "blob," a photograph of a brain taken 
in the bright sun could have been used for the compositing, but it 
is little more than a bright spot on the film. This is no problem for 
an artist. In addition, no one has been able to determine just what 
the "blob" is, beyond theorizing that it is a flap of skin. It could 
not have come from Kennedy's known head wounds. 

Another problem with the "flap" theory to explain the "blob" 
hasn't been addressed by Burgess and other critics: How could the 
flap hang down on the front of the face when the only possible 
position of a laceration along the right side of the head could not 
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allow a flap to fall anywhere but down and certainly not reach 
around to the front of the face. What we apparently see is almost 
an entire brain hanging out of his right forehead. 

Burgess says that the animation cannot work because the final 
version of an altered film would be three generations removed from 
the original. He then makes a patently false statement to bolster 
his argument: that the film is of "generally poor quality of the 
image to start with." Weatherly replies that, "Regarding the number 
of generations removed from the original that a fake would be, who 
is ever going to see the original? What we actually see are various 
`enhanced' copies and slide sets, which we expect to be multiple 
generations removed." 

Good copies of the film, such as the original Life slides in the 
National Archives and copies of it there, are crystal clear. Burgess 
has been looking at cheap bootleg copies and videos. "The final 
version [of the animation] would be so murky as to be almost use-
less, even with fine grain, low contrast 35mm masters and special-
ized color duping film." Wrong again. Working from a good 
original, the loss of definition would be little more than a copy of 
that original, though it went to 35mm and back again. Certainly, 
with good copy equipment, it is very hard to distinguish between 
an original and a first copy, especially when no one will ever see 
the original. The slides in the Archives are copies of copies and 
they are crystal clear. It is an amazing experience to see them. 

"No matter how good the equipment, the wound is so small on 
the original film [as I noted above, probably no bigger than half 
or quarter the size of the head of a pin] that any image would lack 
sharpness, a problem exacerbated by the grain and the low quality 
optics of Zapruder's camera." Burgess again makes several inaccu-
rate statements off the top of his head without citing any source 
material to back them up. Zapruder's Bell & Howell camera was 
their top-of-the-line commercial offering. The optics were very good, 
and that is easily seen in good copies of the film, where the clarity 
is quite startling. 

In addition, the "blob" is clearer, in fact, than the head it is 
attached to. This counters Burgess above, but we don't know why 
it is so clear except to offer the possibility that the equipment and 
techniques used were superior to the camera and film that was 
being altered. 

Burgess (and other critics of the film alteration evidence) fail to explain 
why in the frames following the head shot around frames 335-37, there 
is only the rear stub of Kennedy's head, and we see Jackie's shoulder 
and arm very clearly where his face and forehead should be.' This 

11 
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clearly demonstrates that something else happened in that car during 
those terrible moments that had to be, so drastically changed, and 
changed so fast, that they pasted in an incomplete image of John Kenne-
dy's head with an apparently whole brain hanging out of the right eye 
over Jackie's torso. 

Burgess agrees that part of the head is missing: "As Kennedy's 
head bounces forward from its backward thrust, it is obvious that a 
chunk of the top and side of his head is missing. As it moves forward 
one can see Jacqueline's face and shoulder right through what 
ought to be Kennedy's head. If the film were fiddled, this portion 
must have originally been covered by Kennedy's intact head.""6  

It is at this point that we know that the famous film is fake. It was 
done to trick the Warren Commission, the FBI, the Secret Service, 
and Life into believing that Kennedy was shot in the head from 
behind with a bullet that blew out the forward part of his head. He 
may have been shot from behind, but the bullet did not damage 
the forward part of his head, and only exited the right temple, 
at most. 

Burgess puts forward another argument: "The greatest problems, 
however, are of blurring, registration, and adding missing back-
ground. Since Abraham Zapruder had his camera set on maximum 
telephoto and had no tripod, the images jump around quite a bit 
even when Zapruder is relatively steady; hence the importance of 
image -stabilization.... It would have been impossible in 1963 to 
add anything to the film or alter any successive images and dupli-
cate a realistic blur."'" The latter statement is just bullshit. 

The rotoscope process has as its primary intent the accurate regis-
tration of the mattes which causes the composite images to go 
where they are supposed to go. Again, Burgess has not done his 
homework and makes an illogical statement. The machine does not 
exist to leave a trail of shoddy work and clues of compositing. As 
for the blurs, assuming that a photograph of a brain was not used 
to composite the blob with the head, and that it is simply artwork, 
any blurs become that much easier to paint. Remember, artwork 
and animated cartoons are drawn on large boards and then reduced 
down, in this case to 35mm film or even larger. Burgess finally 
mentions that it might be necessary to add missing background. 
Again, that is no problem. That is what photo retouch artists are 
all about. 

Burgess, a classicist at the University of Ottawa, says that adding 
the blob or any other change would never work. He flies in the 
face of countless similar commercial and artistic alterations of 



The Hoax of the Century 	 169 

film, such as popular movies of real people and scenes which 
have cartoon characters added to the film. Originally, this effect 
was not done with computers, and the same matte technique 
described above was used. Two or more images were combined 
with one. 

"If one accepts the theory [as I do]," Timothy Cwiek writes, "that 
President Kennedy's killer never wanted the lone-assassin theory accepted by everybody, then the taking of the Z-film makes all the 
sense in the world. The film was not shown to just anybody.... It was released to certain people, at different times, so that the new 
rulers could safely reveal their bloody work and gain therefrom the deference they felt entitled to. By the time it finally was shown to 
the public a dozen years later, no one was in a position to do anything about it. The important thing to remember is the film was 
released slowly and carefully—always on the killer's terms. 

For years, we researchers have viewed the Abraham Zapruder 
home movie as a great accident in history, a wonderful instance of the perpetrators being caught with their pants down. I would sug-
gest, to the contrary, that the Z-film is just one more indication of the control of the situation that President Kennedy's killers had in Dealey Plaza that terrible day."' 

IT is A TRAGEDY that early suspicion of the film, such as the major 
analysis of forgery done by Newcomb and Adams, was suppressed 
or taken over or discredited with false leads and misinformation 
planted on them like poison. 

Those who pandered the film all these years have suppressed dis-sent, and perpetrated a massive propaganda campaign which not only 
fooled all of us, but got us hooked on the importance of the film to prove evidence of frontal shots which in fact could not be proven by 
those methods. We were misdirected—as we were with so much else in this case: the trajectory, the wounds, the autopsy, and the rifle and 
the bullet_ Our critic-leaders have been our own worst enemies. 

In this case, if thirty witnesses stated that the limousine stopped during the shooting, and we don't see it in the film, then the presump-tion must be that the film is wrong and has been altered. If the original maps showing where the shots arrived were altered to move 
the shots up the street, there must be a reason for it, and we begin to get an idea of that reason when numerous people, including Dan 
Rather and Ike Altgens, described seeing things and being in certain places at the time of the shooting which no longer appear in the film. 
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KENNEDY'S MOTTLED JOWL 

Kennedy's right cheek and jowl is very mottled or puffed up in the 
frames in the 280s. This seems unnatural, even if he had been shot 
in the throat or the back. This might be further evidence of com-
posite frames that were not done perfectly. 

THE "BLACK DOG MAN" 

Martin Shackelford has exploded the myth of the "Black Dog 
Man," which was thrown out to the research community as someone 
perching with a gun behind the concrete retaining wall on the 
Grassy Knoll in Dealey Plaza. Shackelford credits Robert Cutler, 
Richard Trask, Bill O'Neill, and Matthew Smith for providing ele-
ments he pulled together in order to expose one more trick played 
on us by undisciplined and hasty "research." The problem with 
visual evidence is that it's like looking at a crystal ball through a 
fog. People can claim that almost anything is in a picture—and it 
may be difficult if not impossible to disprove it. 

Abraham Zapruder's employee, Marilyn Sitzman, reported that 
she saw a young black couple having their lunch on a bench [no 
longer there] in front of and below the pedestal where she and 
Zapruder were standing while they filmed the motorcade." 

The bench was photographed at the time, and is located in a 
chart in Trask's book, Pictures of the Pain,"' in a photo which shows 
the lunch bags and pop bottles,' and in a film frame.' 

Shackelford writes: "When the shots began, the young woman 
was standing up, looking toward Elm Street. She appears as the 
image long identified as 'The Black Dog Man' in the Hugh Betzner 
and Phil Willis photos. An enlargement from the Betzner photo, 
published by Matthew Smith, definitely looks like a woman.'" The 
HSCA noted flesh tones on the photo image" "and it is clear from 
good color copies of the fifth Willis photo that the flesh tones of 
the image are darker than those of most of the other people in the 
picture, including Zapruder and Sitzman.... When she stood up, 
she apparently set her orange pop bottle on the concrete wall, 
where it appears, orange tone visible in a good enlargement, in the 
third photograph by Jim Towner." Both Marilyn Sitzman recalled 
seeing the bottle,' and Barbara Rowland "mentioned police in- 
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specting a pop bottle.' The young couple ran away after the last shot.' One of the pop bottles broke and left a pool of red pop, which photographer Malcolm Couch assumed was blood at the time, as he told the Warren Commission.'339  Shackelford continues: 

An image often mistakenly cited to bolster the theory of an assassin in this location is frame 413 of the Zapruder film, which shows the hack of a man's head and a straight image which some-what resembles a rifle. The image of the 'rifle' passes between Zapruder and the leaves of the bush, indicating it [probably a branch) was closer to Zapruder than the leaves [similar images, though not as long, appear elsewhere in the frame, also crossing leaves]. On the other hand, leaves appear between Zapruder and the man's head, indicating the man was beyond the bush." Robert Cutler established that the man is probably one of the three men on the Knoll steps, visible in the Moorman photograph, the Muchmore film, and others. 
"The preponderance of the witness and photographic evi-dence," Shackelford writes, "indicates that the figure long re-ferred to as 'The Black Dog Man' was in fact a young black woman, part of the couple having lunch on the Knoll that day. Logic tells us that an assassin is unlikely to have positioned himself in plain view of Zapruder and Sitzman. In addition, Sitzman clearly stated that no shots were fired from any location that close to her.'" 

'Black Dog Man,' rest in peace. 

BILL GREER'S HEAD TURNS 

One of the claims involved the second set of two head turns of the driver of the limousine, Bill Greer, when he looks at the wounded Kennedy behind him while driving. The first set of turns under discussion starts in frame numbers 280-84. At 284, Greer is turned all the way around, looking behind him at Kennedy. This sequence ends when he starts to turn his head forward at 290. At 295, his head is turned all the way forward again. It takes him four to five frames to turn his head each way. No one disputes that those head turns take several frames to execute. But at frame 302, Greer turns his head back to look at Kennedy again. Our observations on re-peated occasions in the National Archives viewing the slides of the film together indicate that the second set of head turns again take 
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several frames each time, but other observations first put forward 
by Noel Twyman and repeated at ASK 1993 in Dallas by David 
Lifton claim that there is a head turn of 150 degrees executed in 
one frame. 

I need to correct a sentence about this in Killing the Truth, p. 
334. That page deals with the hole in back of Kennedy's head, and 
just following, the incorrect text reads, "Greer turns back toward 
the front at frame 316. There is a very clear picture of Greer turned 
to his right at 317." This last sentence meant that he had turned 
enough that his head was now 90 degrees from forward, faced di-
rectly right. The first sentence should read, "Greer starts his turn 
back toward the front at frame 316." Greer continues to turn and 
completes his turn forward by 320. 

Chuck Marler mentioned the rapid head turn in the May 1994 
issue of the Fourth Decade, and published more information on this 
in the November 1994 issue, using this language: "Mr. Twyman 
[Noel] obtained excellent color prints made from the Zapruder 
film, and in studying the frames noticed that in frame 302 William 
Greer was looking straight forward and one frame later (frame 303) 
the driver's head had turned approximately 150 degrees and was 
looking over his right shoulder at Kennedy. Greer held this position 
through frame 316. Again, one frame later (frame 317) Greer is 
looking straight ahead. The obvious and inescapable conclusion is 
that 4t two separate occasions, William Greer had turned his head 
approximately 150 degrees within one frame. As Zapruder's camera 
was operating at 18.3 frames per second, Greer made this move-
ment in .056 second." 

Twyman has conducted extensive interviews with Erwin Schwartz, 
Zapruder's former partner. 

Experiments with athletes and others conducted by Twyman and 
Mailer with cameras moving at 18 fps show such a movement is 
impossible."' But is the head turn done in just one frame, or does 
it take more? Intense study of the slides made from Life's copy of 
the film for the National Archives by Martin Shackelford, Daryll 
Weatherly, Doug Mizzer, David Mantik, M.D., and myself, indicate 
that there is no one-frame head turn. Some among us thought that 
it took three to four frames, and Weatherly and I felt that the head 
turns took four frames, as with the earlier turns. The same is true 
of Greer's head turn back to looking forward starting at 316. It is 
claimed that this is done in just one frame, but again, the Life/ 
National Archives version of the film shows it taking at least three 
frames and probably four. 

Knowing the sources Twyman, Lifton, and Mailer replied upon 
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(David Lifton's versions of the Zapruder film, including a 35mm 
reel, the Medio Multimedia CD-ROM version probably made from 
the film provided by the Zapruder family attorney, Jamie Silverberg, 
and a claimed observation seen in the reproduced frames in volume 
18 of the Warren Report), one must ask if one film has been altered 
differently from the other. In other words, as the above researchers claim, is every other frame removed from the film in certain se-
quences during the shooting to speed up the car when it might have stopped, or is there some other explanation? 

I would like nothing better than to be able to find evidence of 
alteration if we could prove that Greer turns his head completely 
around in an eighteenth of a second, and then back again in 
another second. Another possible explanation is that the source 
film for the above claim is different from the National Archives 
version. 

So then we have to investigate just where researchers, the Na-
tional Archives, Life, and the others got their films. That is the job 
of the presidentially appointed JFK Assassinations Records Review 
Board, which is in charge of collecting all such material. A clue to the films' origins might provide us with the answer as to who has 
been altering or tampering with such evidence. The reader might 
want to study the major chapter on the Zapruder film in my last 
book, Killing the Truth. 

There was another development in the Twyman/Marler thesis of 
a rapid Greer head turn, as first put forward in the Fourth Decade 
article, "William Greer's Impossible Head Turn," in November 1994. On December 27, 1994, I received a letter from Chuck Marler 
revising his claims. The bottom line of what he is left with is a turn of somewhere between 100 and 130 degrees. 

On January 20, 1995, a clarification came from Marler. He states that his estimate in The Fourth Decade of a head turn of approxi-
mately 150 degrees is described as being made in four frames, not 
in between two frames. "My December 27th letter to you clearly 
describes a 150-degree head turn in four frames which contains an impossible 120-130 degree turn in one frame.... the absolute mini-
mum one frame movement was 100 degrees." This is very different from the originally published statement that "in frame 302 William 
Greer was looking straight forward and one frame later frame (303) 
the driver's head had turned approximately 150 degrees and [he] was looking over his right shoulder at Kennedy. Greer held this position through frame 316. Again, one frame later (frame 317), 
Greer is looking straight ahead."12  Now we have the whole turn takin four frames instead of two. But what of the one big turn 
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of one hundred degrees he says happens between two frames? It 
doesn't happen. 

Our team studying the film is sure that (a) there is no significant 
change of head position discernible in the two sets of frames 
(302-03, 316-17), and (b) as'they appear in volume 18. or in the 
Archives. 

Daryl! Weatherly then drove clown from New York State and we 
went to the National Archives to observe the film close up. We were 
allowed to study carefully the original Life slides of the frames given 
to the National Archives. We think that Twyman has made two 
fundamental errors of observation. 

The first error was to suppose that the head itself was turned 150 
(or even 130) degrees backward on the body in order to look back 
at Kennedy. It is probably impossible for a human head to turn 
more than 100 degrees, and even with peripheral vision, the driver 
had to move his legs to the right as far as they would go, keeping 
his left hand on the wheel, and turn his body about 45 or 50 de-
grees maximum to the right_ As he is doing this, his head is turning 
an additional 90 to 100 degrees. This gives us very close to the 150 
degrees Marler and Twyman say Greer's body is turned. 

The above researchers had not taken into account the body 
itself making one-third of the total turn, which puts it within the 
realm of possibility, and also dovetails with the angular move-
ments we, as well as Shackelford, saw. At no time does Greer's 
head turn more than fifty degrees in a frame, excluding the 
body's additional turn. 

Another possible mistake in observation is that Twyman and 
Marler may have been fooled by two badly blurred frames preceding 
Greer's final movement to face forward (which he reaches at frame 
319). It is impossible to have any idea what Greer is doing in those 
frames. It is possible that those frames were removed from the film 
that Twyman and Marler studied. As for Greer's turn to the rear 
beginning at frame 300, Shackelford, Weatherly, and I agree that 
the National Archives film shows that the first part of the turn shows 
his head turning 40 degrees. By frame 302 the head has turned 30 
more degrees. At frame 303 the head has turned 45 degrees, and at frame 304, the head has turned 25 degrees, for a total of 140 
degrees in five frames. 

Shackelford thinks the turn back starting at frame 315 is a total 
of 150 degrees, and his head has turned 45 degrees by frame 316; 
another 30 degrees by frame 317; 25 degrees by frame 318, and 50 
degrees by frame 319. 
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I BELIEVE THAT Greer's head is turned around to look at Kennedy in the Altgens photograph, said to be taken at frame 255. Perhaps all three turns were one turn while the car was actually stopped, but when the film was re-created by the forgers, they made two separate ones—repeating one of them twice, to give more of an illusion. Marler. a county official in California, strongly believes that the alteration of the Zapruder film concealed "what happened 'behind' the sign, the slow speed or stopping of the limousine—which means increased reaction time for the Secret Service to respond, the true wounds to Kennedy's head, and the double head shot to Ken-nedy.' I took Marler's measure in a meeting in California in December 1994, because 1 was concerned he was being used in some way and that his information was false. Before anyone jumps to engage in character assassination against those of us (now many) who believe this film to be fake, I'd like to say that Mr. Marler is a man of very fine character, a religious man. He provided the biblical quote at the beginning of this book, which I substituted for the one I already had. 
Marler gave some additional reasons to suspect tampering: "The Zapruder film was at the CIA(NPIC)—the most sophisticated film lab in the world; the film was sealed away from public view for twelve years; the splices and damage at Z 155-56 and 208-11. After working for hundreds of hours editing 8mm film, it is difficult to believe two separate accidents occurred. I think the splices were used to conceal mistakes: The reproduced photographs made from the slides Life provided for the Warren Commission were dark and of extremely poor quality. It is suspicious that the Muchmore film has a split at (M 468) approximately the same location of Zapruder frame 313 (the head shot); the rear of Kennedy's head is blackened by dark shadows when corresponding locations of Governor Con-nally and Mrs. Kennedy are plainly visible; Kennedy's backward movement after being shot seems extremely fast.""' Catch that last observation? The famous backward head snap may be too rapid to be caused by a shot from the front, especially one that went through the head. How many exploiters of the film men-tioned that? And how many eyewitnesses described the head snap before having seen the film? Probably none. Frames may have been taken out of the head-shot sequence and that would have speeded up the backward movement. This evidence of alteration is over-looked by those who must believe the film is authentic in order to prove their case that JFK was shot from in front. I'd like to add to Marler's observations that the film was altered to remove shots—which perhaps primarily required the removal of 
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a single frame for each shot erased (if more than one), and the 
addition of a massive wound (the "blob") on Kennedy's face and 
the right front of his head, which could be painted, rephoto-
graphed, and added to the picture. When examined closely, the 
blob is so out of register as to lack all credibility. 

RED HERRINGS 

Not only do we have to contend with different versions of the Za-
pruder film with little or no way to know their origin or authentic-
ity—some with "enhancement," some with retouching, some with 
frames removed, some with frames added or repeated (stretch 
framed), some with image steadying (which removes parts of the 
original), some with different frame numbers than others, and some 
that apparently were deliberately altered for the purpose of giving 
people an idea to sell—but we have apparent "red herrings" 
planted in the films by the forgers to make decoding of the ultimate 
forgery more difficult. 

There may be things seen or perceived in various versions of the 
film that are tricks played on us. Other claims (among many exam-
ples) involve everything from streaks seen on the film purported to 
be bullet tracks, to muzzle flashes. It would be nice if some of this 
holds up under scrutiny, but usually hard-nosed researchers put 
them down as "artifacts." 

Some see the driver of the car in poor bootleg copies of the film 
turn around and shoot Kennedy, streaks on the film at the time of 
the head shot that show bullet tracks coming in, and microsurgery 
the detection of using very sophisticated splicing. Do copies of the 
film exist that really support these assertions? Or are we looking at 
altered films or videos which might give the impression that these 
things are happening? 

THE PROBLEM wax THE Stemmons Freeway sign, its actual removal 
and movement after the assassination, and its wild jumping around 
in some versions of the film (apparent stretching) have caused a 
problem for researchers. The sign appears to grow and stretch when 
it slips into the sprocket area as the camera pans to the right. This 
is probably an effect of the camera mechanism. All other objects 
entering the sprocket area do the same. 

Another red herring may be the American flag on the right 



177 The Hoax of the Century 

fender of the limousine. Many note that the flag hangs relatively 
limp along part of the street, whereas the presidential flag on the 
other fender flutters merrily. The flag is limp in the Altgens photo 
as well. This is not evidence of alteration of the film, necessarily. 

One of the early, widely distributed bootleg copies of the film 
seems to be shot from the photos of frames reproduced in volume 
18 of the Warren Report, since both show the bottom of the preced-
ing frame at the top, and the top of the following frame at the 
bottom. Is there any other technical explanation for this 
phenomenon? 
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Ultimately, the background of the fatal car's driver, fifty-five-year-
old William Greer, will go down in history as a key to the truth of 
the assassination. This man did not drive off when the shooting 
started. Instead, he turned around twice and stared at Kennedy 
after the shots began and did nom  notgettne_car out of there until 
Kennedy's head was blown apart, a time span of at least six to ten 
seconds. And what of Kellerman, who sat beside him? Between the 
two Secret Service men, they should have got that car moving. Ken- ' 
nedy would have survived his first wound easily. Why did the Secret 
Service permit a man that old to drive the car in the first place? 

Greer was a Protestant from Northern Ireland who lived on the 
estate of Henry Cabot Lodge and worked for him before he became 
JFK's driver. Greer must have felt some antagonism for Kennedy, 
at the very least, for his trip to Catholic Ireland and for his 
peccadilloes. 

J Kennedy's driver was linked to a man who benefited greatly from 
the assassination: Henry Cabot Lodge, a scion of an old, prominent, 

very political „New England blue blood establishment family. 
Lodge becanThtty ambassador to Saigon in South Vietnam and -Liv' 
literally ran the war from his embassy. The military didn't run it. 
The CIA didn t run it so much as Henry a ot o ge ran it. odge 
apparently wanted the war that Kennedy tried to stop, just as Robert 
McNamara, Kennedy's Republican Secretary of Defense in his bipar-
tisan cabinet, evidently wanted it and worked for it for years after 
Kennedy was dead and Johnson prosecuted the war. 

There was a fortune in that war for the Dallas-Fort Worth families 
and defense companies, such as Bell Helicopters and General Dy-
namics, with so much investment in the arms industry at stake. 
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ONE OF THE EXPERIMENTS that should be conducted is to film—using 
a 1963 Bell & Howell camera identical to Zapruder's—a car coming 
down the center of the street from Zapruder's pedestal with the 
full zoom lens on, to see if the developed film eliminates all the 
landmarks, such as lampposts and structures in the background. 
The famous film has not a single object during the fatal head-shot 
period that tells us where this is happening with reference to the 
Plaza. We are asked to assume that the zoom lens has brought us 
in so close that there is nothing else in the picture except the 
limousine and its occupants. Two women were standing beside the 
lamppost to Zapruder's left and they are entirely eliminated from 
the film, with the car appearing to be over their heads due to 
Zapruder's elevation. 

In the appendix by Daryll Weatherly, we will learn that the film 
is in fact an animation, with parts cut out and moved from one 
section to another. Weatherly presents the physics of vector analysis 
to demonstrate his belief that the film is an animation. Those who 
took over this film and sold it to us were therefore doing the work 
of the cover-up. They never questioned the film's authenticity or 
allowed such questions, and viciously attacked those who asked. We 
were not even to think that the film was not authentic. Some people 
became targets for destruction because of this. No wonder. The 
film is a key to the case, and has been the principal means of 
covering up the real shots showing there were more than one 
gunman. 

The Zapruder film was used to direct attention away from what 
really happened during the shooting. Although it seems to show 
evidence of a frontal shot, it does not prove it; the 'jet effect" and 
"neuromuscular reaction" countered that, whether true or not The 
film distracted 	 om asking significant questions, or they 
were prompted to as questions about the action in the film that 
did not really matter. The idea was to sell the film as the most 
significant piece of evidence in the assassination. 

The first third of the film was massively manipulated because that 
is where the first shots were fired. An entire sequence of the limou-
sine turning the corner was taken out. A second head shot occurred 
farther down Elm Street and was combined with what we now see. 
The differences between CE 585 (the December 1963 Plaza survey 
map) showing where the shots fell, and the May maps (CE 882 and 
883) are major. The December map shows the last shots happening 
farther down the street than the official story had it. The first survey 
has a chart showing where three shots hit the car, almost evenly 
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spaced, but all three of these maps were printed in such small 
format that they cannot be very well read, if at all, and almost no 
one would notice this. More about this in the next chapter. 

We were hypnotized with this film, and ultimately it was an exer-
cise in mass mind control. It was never a "time clock of the assassi-
nation" as we were told, but the exact opposite. Time and action 
were removed. That is how we were tricked. 

As Professor Philip Melanson has written, "It is possible that the 
film of the century is more intimately related to the crime of the 
century than we ever knew—not because it recorded the crime of the 
century, as we have assumed, but because it was itself an instrument 
of conspiracy."'" 

In the art of the film business, anything is possible. It is, after all, 
an art. 

The next chapter deals with the major discrepancies between the 
findings of the criminal investigators (the FBI and the Secret Ser-vice) as to where the shots landed, and what the Warren Commis-sion said and the film now shows. 
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Botw relating to "December 4" on l's page 122: 

This is consummate dishonesty. lie gives no source and he dares not. he took it 

from Photographic Whitewash, where 1  published the letter in facsimile on page 143. 

He writes about this as of December 4, 1963 but in fact that letter was dated 'eeember 4, 

1964, after the Report was out.It was a y.tr after he says! 

This deliberate misrepresentation is his basis for alleging there was still another 

copy not accounted for. 
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The handwritten note says that ‘hotographic Whitewash also includes what LIFE 

said about when and how the original was damaged. I brought that to light in WW. It 

was when a copy was being made in Chicago (and Livingstone has Shen the timing of 

LIEWs use wrong from his nuts and What he and they made ul). But having uSed Photo WW 

as 1  indicate aboke he had to know the truth becaause it also in in that book, earlier 

in it. In short, he both cribs and suppresses from that book, which he has.he had to 

suppress the truth because it destroys all he had made up, proving it to be impossible. 

He even contradicts himself because he has to make all of this up on whether 

there was a contract for the use of the film, as the notes on the pages reflect. 


